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HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

Chairman’s Statement £ E i &

RESULTS

I, on behalf of the board of directors, announce that the Group’s
turnover was HK$386,056,000 (2012: HK$711,865,000) for the year
ended 31 March 2013. The loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company was HK$23,620,000 (2012: HK$37,183,000) while loss per
share was HK9.10 cents (2012: HK14.32 cents).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors did not recommend payment of a final dividend

with respect to the financial year ended 31 March 2013.

BUSINESS REVIEW

It was a challenging year for the Group. Faced with a volatile frozen
meats market, the Group adopted a series of prudent measures to
adjust downward its frozen meats trading business. Meanwhile, the
Group initiated to expand its business platform and inaugurated this
year the retail chain of mini department store business in Mainland
China to capitalise on the rising living standards and customers’
changing shopping habit. For food business investment, the Group was
benefited by the earnings from its investment in Four Seas Mercantile
Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”) which had a remarkable year of

performance.
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Chairman’s Statement = E # &

Frozen Meats Trading

Supply prices remained highly fluctuating and continued downward
trend throughout the year. To reduce market risks, the Group
strategically consolidated its frozen meats trading and also adjusted
downward its inventories to a prudent level. As a result, both frozen
meats sales and inventories declined considerably compared to last
year to HK$359,627,000 and HK$64,245,000 respectively.

Retail Chain of Mini Department Stores

Since its inauguration in June 2012, the Group operated a total of 3
stores of “Daiso Living Department Store” as at 31 March 2013. These
stores were strategically located in modern shopping malls with high
customer flow and broad clientele of different ages of customers.
As well, these stores accommodate over tens of thousands of items
at budget prices, including living essentials, trendy souvenirs and
ornaments, and snack foods. Targeting customers who are seeking
for leisure and convenient shopping experience, the stores are
specially designed in fashionable style and provide a leisure shopping
environment. Coupled with a wide variety of products for different
customer groups’ choices, these chain stores have been well received

and achieved expected sales.

Frozen Meats Products
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Chairman’s Statement T B &

Food Business Investment

The Group holds investment in FSMHL which had a remarkable
year of performance. All business segments of FSMHL, including
food distribution, manufacturing, retailing and catering, achieved
steady sales growth. Meanwhile, gross margin and operating profit
were increased, attributable to effective cost control in purchasing
and production. Besides, benefited by the depreciation of Japanese
yen, the purchase costs of imported Japanese products, which
constitute major portion of sales, were largely lowered and thus
contributed to high profit growth. The Group held equity interest
in FSMHL of approximately 29.70% as at 31 March 2013 and thus
shared a considerable profit after tax of HK$32,874,000 (2012:
HK$15,506,000).

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will cautiously operate its frozen meats
trading to maintain at the present business level. On the other hand, the
Group will focus on developing the business platform of retail chain
of mini department store to build up a strategic network to achieve
operation efficiency and brand image. Leveraging on growing brand
image and enlarging customer groups of our retail stores which bring
large supply of customers to the shopping malls, the Group has been
able to negotiate with shopping mall operators for very favourable
leasing terms and rentals which will further enhance the earnings of

this operation.

Besides, FSMHL has formulated in the coming years a policy of
focusing on network expansion in Mainland China to penetrate into
inner cities beyond the currently dominated Guangdong province.
Furthermore, capitalising on the long established superb “Four Seas”
brand and being well liked by consumers in the Guangdong province,
FSMHL will vigorously launch in phases large-scale sales campaigns
in those target cities to increase profits. Hence, it is expected that
FSMHL will continue to provide sustainable earnings growth to the

Group.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the board of directors, I would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders and our business partners for their
support and trust to the management team. My gratitude also extends
to our staff for their loyalty and diligence in the developments of the

business of the Group.

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2013
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Management Discussion and Analysis B 2 [ 5t i & 2 #7

For the year, the Group achieved a turnover of HK$386,056,000 AAE BE > 4R 2 8 3K £4386,056,0009 0T (%
(2012: HK$711,865,000), representing a decrease of approximately — AR 2 711,865,000% 76) o b B A W B A A
46% over the same period of last year, as a result of measures to 46% o FEFEN > MR A EEB B A LERT
mitigate the market risks in frozen meats trading arising from the B 24 > PR b R BRI L B 5 - WA R P SR o
highly fluctuated and downward trend of supply cost.

During the period under review, capturing the vast potential of N> MEENARBAREFERLZWET 5 &

consumer goods market in Mainland China attributable to the rising WG ELESRE L - £ER _F——FH
income level and living standards of people, the Group commenced PR [ RBI A TR 6 | > PR B & L i > 7
its operation in consumer goods retailing through “Daiso Living SHBEEEK  OCRE=MEEHER)EH -

Department Store” in June 2012. At the end of the financial year, the
Group operated a total of 3 stores.

For the year, sales of frozen meats trading was HK$359,627,000, EN > BN Y 58 F 359,627,000 50 0 4k A8 &Y
accounting for approximately 93% of total turnover. Meanwhile, BEX193% o EEH & 885 526,429,000% 5 > 1
sales of consumer goods retailing was HK$26,429,000, accounting M EZT% o LB HFIERRBERAKZETEN
for approximately 7% of total turnover. Under the Group’s planning PR - REHEEBWILEGZELH M -
to expand retail network in Mainland China in the coming years, it is
expected that consumer goods retailing will progressively account for

a bigger share of the Group’s turnover in the future.

During the year, the Group implemented a series of consolidation LEPRERNIER AN Y S ET — & 500

measures on frozen meats trading. Coupled with a stringent purchase it o TR Y 0 SR A RN > TR IR S T D A
strategy, the Group also actively reduced its inventories to a prudent KF o Rt B T HSEEZEE BEEZ =4
level which negatively impacted to this year’s result. As at 31 March ZRAZ+1—HIkE > BWHET264,245,00090C » HL#
2013, frozen meats inventories stood at HK$64,245,000 compared 248 ] 1 19 168,068,000% 7C > K IE Ik A £162%

to HK$168,068,000 as at the end of previous year, representing a
significant decrease of approximately 62%.

As at 31 March 2013, the Group held an equity interest of BE_ER-=F=H=+—HI1k > £EFHHME
approximately 29.70% in FSMHL. Benefited by the encouraging [ Z B0y HE 25 £029.70% o 4 4F B % 50U YN 4 1 4
performance of FSMHL, the Group shared a very good return of NBTE L4 > A 4 [ 15 SR %) A ¥ B 32 T =2
HK$32,874,000. Since its establishment in 1971, FSMHL has 32,874,000%7C - WAL H —ILE—FRLES -
developed into a leading enterprise of Hong Kong food industry and CERRAFBRAEMAEEZ— > WRZF—Z
has been honored with “China Securities Golden Bauhinia Awards: AR LI P B R S A R A — e HL R R A B A
The Most Valuable Listed Company for Brands” in 2012. During "l HEBFAF/ERRE - RS -FTEHM

the year, all business segments, including food distribution, food N B AR ORAE R YA BB B R o A B R ARBET
manufacturing, snack foods retail chain and catering developed Yy BAS A By SE AL > A 30 Y N 4 [ R YA R H AR
satisfactorily. Leveraging on its long history of leading position in F%F15 B ELYOKU MOKUZ AR ELHE » 3 KB &
the food distribution, recently FSMHL successfully added to its stable VB R R A A e o

a new distributorship of YOKU MOKU, a famous Japanese food

souvenir brand.
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Management Discussion and Analysis E 2 B & & 2

At the end of the financial year, FSMHL operated a total of 20 food
manufacturing plants in Hong Kong and Mainland China. These self-
operated factories have enabled FSMHL to implement a strategy of
production-sales integration to effectively improve the production
efficiency as well as marketing strategies via the full control in
inventory management together with well understanding of market
trend. Capitalising on the competitive edge of self-production and
stringent food safety control standards, a series of well-received
proprietary brand products of FSMHL are manufactured in these
factories, including “Four Seas Seaweed”, “Four Seas Milk Drink”,
“Four Seas Biscuit Stick”, “Four Seas Tsubu Tsubu Orange Drink”,
“Four Seas Coffee”, “Four Seas Cracker”, “Four Seas Chestnut”,
“Four Seas Potato Chip”, “Four Seas Puff Snack Series”, “Four
Seas Sweet Corn”, “Four Seas Bub Bub Candy”, “Four Seas Instant
Noodle”, “Maid Brand Ham and Sausage Series” and “Cowboy
Peanuts” etc.

The retailing business of “Okashi Land”, mainly selling Japanese
snack foods, achieved encouraging development. This retail chain
continued to be well liked and being a very popular place for young
consumers seeking for trendy snack foods.

During the year, FSMHL added another new brand “Mori Café”
with the first branch opened in Guangzhou to furnish with light
meals. Meanwhile, “Sushi Oh” expanded its sushi restaurant chain
to Guangzhou. “Osaka Ohsho” has also expanded its branch network
in Hong Kong. Altogether, FSMHL’s catering business operated
in Mainland China and Hong Kong include Japanese restaurants,
Japanese fast food shops, sushi restaurant chain, high-end vegetarian
restaurants, garden-style Chinese restaurants and light meal

restaurants.
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AR RO o B E R > B A
BAGBOR > A BT B RR > [F I e 4 5T 4
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FI ]~ TSRS ~ Tra L gens | - TS
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HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Report of the Directors EE & # &

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements ERGHREERGREURAA T EIALEEEKE
of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2013. R EFEAZT—HIMFEZ REZ B ERE -
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES TR

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details ARNE 2 EEEH RGN o B8 A R K
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and associates BN A 2 EEER GG 4 B R s B RE LS
are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the financial statements, respectively. F16 o REB O AREERHIBRFERENEE - K
The Group has commenced the retailing of consumer goods during the B EEEBR P ENSEIL M E RS -

current year. There were no other significant changes in the nature of

the Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND E 39,398

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2013 and the state of AEFAHRE - 2-=E=A=+—HILEFEZEA
affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the B A2 v LA SR T i 3% B 2 B BOW DL S i 5B 40 E
financial statements on pages 40 to 128. B8 Z M B HmAEN -

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in TN A R AR A AT A BB o

respect of the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 10 5 %R B

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the 74 55 1 48 2% oA B BOAE B C M 2 SR R E A R
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited BEERMERREZN SRS P RE - WAET

financial statements, is set out below: B

Year ended 31 March
BREZH=Z+—HIL4EE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
2= DRI DR ZERFE ZERRE
HK$’000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000

BT BT BH T BT BT

RESULTS

REVENUE

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR
THE YEAR

ANNUAL REPORT 2013

ES
B 386,056 711,865 439,544 559,501 628,149
A PR A

(& ) (23,620) (37,183) (5.915) 44,275 15,916
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Report of the Directors %= & #} &

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION B 5 R E 2 (%)

(continued)

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the AREMBEHMBBEECOAMZEEREEMNA
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited BERMEHREZMBESRE PR s WAET T
financial statements, is set out below: (continued) P (5)

As at 31 March

R=EH=1—H
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
X e = e S e S R
HK$’000 HKS$ 000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000

BT BT BT BT BT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ & J fi {4

TOTAL ASSETS A 631,918 720,956 668,682 605,827 583,344
TOTAL LIABILITIES A (226,702) (296,237) (195,897) (124,596) (134,664)
405,216 424,719 472,785 481,231 448,680

The information set out above does not form part of the audited I VR 35 P JE A R O A B IS Uk i — BB o

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT e e

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the AL 3 BRI Y > S B AR
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements. A SR i 214 o

SHARE CAPITAL W A

There were no movements in either the Company’s authorised or TAAE PO AN T v 58 I A B O 384T I A N AT ] 45 ) o

issued share capital during the year.

RESERVES s i
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group AAAE BE TN > AN T % A4 [ B > S B S 4 R
during the year are set out in note 29(b) to the financial statements and HO A 7 4 B 20 (b) R AR S HERS S B 3R o

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES T B 2 IR 5 Al

At 31 March 2013, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, NoB—ZHEZAZT—H > BIERBA TGS
calculated in accordance with the provisions of Section 79B of the 7OBMEEFAE » AN T A AR IR 2 B A 250,572,000
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to HK$50,572,000. IE o

BORROWINGS fo %

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings at the end of the reporting A A P 2 ] R > AR AT A Ak 2R AR A S R
period are set out in note 25 to the financial statements. B 5E25 -

—B-=EEH 11




HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Report of the Directors EE & # &

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director)
TAI Chun Leung — retired on 28 August 2012
YIP Wai Keung

TSE Siu Wan

LAI Yuk Chuen

Independent non-executive directors:

CHAN Kay Cheung
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John
LUI Shing Ming, Brian

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 1 May 2013, Mr. Tai

Chun Kit was appointed as an executive director of the Company.

In accordance with articles 96 and 105(A) of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Tai Chun Kit, Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis, Mr.
Yip Wai Keung and Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian will retire and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election in the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John and
Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and still
considers them to be independent.

ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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Report of the Directors %= & #} &

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS o IR A K

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual AR ] N S BELHE 7 B R AR K b AT 2
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not E 3 VAL 6 R I AT I S S A B S TR 7 S A €7 el
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of EBRAN) 2 B A 4 -

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION e R

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s board of FHEMWETITHAA R ESZERIBELFEREAANT S
directors with reference to directors’ involvement in the Company’s Bl R~ R~ B AT S B W 35 A A Bk ) 35 T
affairs, experience, responsibilities and the prevailing market level of KFHEE > URHAREEHMEE G HR®E
remuneration of executives of similar positions, and reviewed by the BRI BB HINEE g
Remuneration Committee of the Group. Details of remuneration of the Tk 35 B AT 0 5 40 B RO AR AR i T SR R4
directors are set out in note 8 to the financial statements. Particulars of A e

the duties and responsibilities of the remuneration committee are set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS #3692 Hii 2%
No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in T > 4% 25 M P AS A ] o AT AT B A D

any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Pl AR AR ERM S EEBERZEH
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year. N AR R N E i

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S o 8 B v AT BON BUR K 2 Wil R AT
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS oo 4 W 2 1 O By % A B DB A 2 B A

IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING ®ERE
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2013, the interests and short positions of the directors N_R-=Z=FE=H=+—H s KAGHEESF LY

and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying P B3 2UET R E A T HAE 2B ad 8k 8k
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within Wi EH R R0 B BT A EE AT

the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance F5 A8 Gy WA S HI) (TR P I ) 28 50 85 A A 5] K W
(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the R AAR R EREEEETERA B RA A G s H
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to B ER (X REBEEEEN ([B5 AN
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code R 1) SEXVER) B B AH B B A 2 B 25 B I AT
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model E

Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

—B-=EEH 13
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Report of the Directors EE & # &

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

AT A
)t B B
7 ()

Ex

A
B

FH
\N-&l
=S
Ev =y

B
it

X = b

Ly
ik
/B

P HFE

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company T AR 2 ) 3 BBy 2 A
Number of ordinary shares held
P 5 3 BBy 2 B H
Personal Corporate Approximate
interests interests percentage of
(held as (interests of the Company’s
beneficial controlled Total issued
Name of director owner) corporation) interests share capital
2 v il 2 fiaa s
il A\ B 2 (P A5 JBe A 2 BE £
WA/ (TR A) Z HE At ) il 22 A8t [ipid:a
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen i 6,730,000 84,009,177® 90,739,177 34.95%
YIP Wai Keung BRI 736,360 - 736,360 0.28%
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 800,000 - 800,000 0.31%
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John BEN 800,000 - 800,000 0.31%
Notes: Mt
(1) Such shares comprise: () B S
(a) 30,914,000 shares, representing 11.91% of the Company’s issued (a)  MEZE30,914,00008 B4 > Al A 2 &) B8 AT A

(b)

share capital, are owned by Careful Guide Limited (“CGL”) which
is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. Therefore, his
spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, is deemed to be interested in the
30,914,000 shares in CGL;

52,907,250 shares, representing 20.38% of the Company’s issued
share capital, are owned by Special Access Limited (“SAL”), a
company wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his
spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to be interested
in the 52,907,250 shares held by SAL; and

187,927 shares, representing 0.072% of the Company’s issued share
capital, are beneficially owned by Four Seas Mercantile Holdings
Limited (“FSMHL”). CGL and SAL, whose beneficial owners are
set out under Notes (i)(a) and (i)(b) above, in aggregate hold more
than one-third of the issued share capital of FSMHL. Accordingly,
Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung,
Quinly, are deemed to be interested in the 187,927 shares held by
FSMHL.
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WA > CGLHI M e A 2 AR - B »
H 227 SR L W 2% MEA CGL30,914,000/8
e Z HERS 5
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L AEHA - Fk > MAEW A R FE TR
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(b)

M 187,927 B B AR » A AR A F T RARZ
0.072% > 775 Hy Y 0 45 13 A7 B2 ) (T Id o 4 1 1)
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Report of the Directors %= & #} &

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S P R R AT B AR A ) B AT
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS ool 4 W 2 10 O By B A B DB Ay 2 B A
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING Rk E (&)

SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of associated corporation BRSNS

Directors’ interest in the equity of FSMHL as associated corporation K EBEAMHEEE - UNEE T EE 2RSS

are as follows: T

Number of ordinary shares held

P 5 3% 0 e BBy 2 BH
Approximate
Personal Corporate percentage of
interests interests such associated
(held as (interests of corporation’s
beneficial controlled Total issued
Name of director owner) corporation) interests share capital
2 i) B 43 AR 086 3
fiEl A HE 2 (€3 FAa] O AT IR AR
WA (H#FH) ZHEAE) HE 2 48 5t ZBHE R
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen B - 259,478,0007 259,478,000 66.89%
YIP Wai Keung BE {500 680,000 - 680,000 0.17%
Notes: Mt -
(i)  Such shares comprise: (i) ZEBRBHaH:
(a) 70,000,000 shares, representing 18.05% of the issued share capital (a)  BE%E70,000,000/8 B4y » 4k VU 9N 4E 8 O 88 47 B AS
of FSMHL, are held by CGL which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Z18.05% > J5 WMICGLFF A » MICGLH Hy 3 74
Fung, Stephen. Therefore, his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, is T EHE Hib > HETHEAL BN
deemed to be interested in the 70,000,000 shares in CGL; 5 B CGL70,000,0008 B Z #E 25 3
(b) 74,250,000 shares, representing 19.14% of the issued share capital (b)  BE%E74,250,000/8 B4y » 4k DU N4 [ O 88 47 A
of FSMHL, are owned by SAL, a company wholly owned by Mr. Z19.14% > J5 FISAL¥ A > MSALRI fy 5 78 &
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. AR FETHERL L 2ERER - B>
Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, MR RHFETFARER L LW B BERSAL
Quinly are deemed to be interested in all of the 74,250,000 shares 74,250,000 ety Z #E5 5 ]
held by SAL; and
(c) 115,228,000 shares, representing 29.70% of the issued share capital (¢)  BE%E115,228,000/8 B4 > A6 1Y 9N 45 [ CL 88 47 i
of FSMHL, are owned by Capital Season Investments Limited, a A 229.70% > J5 HCapital Season Investments
company wholly owned by Advance Finance Investments Limited LimitedJf # # > MiCapital Season Investments
(“AFIL”). Since AFIL is wholly owned by the Company, which LimitedH] H1Advance Finance Investments
in turn Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, SAL, CGL and FSMHL in Limited (T AFIL]) 2 & #EH o BRAFILTI AR 2
aggregate hold more than one-third of the issued share capital of MRS MAXARGFHE=Z A2 —2 08
the Company, and therefore, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and his AT BEA 4y 1 p # A8 W S 2k~ SAL ~ CGLK P9
spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are deemed to have interests in EEFE o Bk > BMAEEEAE RILEFHER
the 115,228,000 shares of FSMHL. Lo L WA A A DU PN 4R [ 115,228,0008 M4y 2
HE£E -

—B-=EEH 15
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Report of the Directors EE & # &

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of associated corporation

(continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2013, none of the directors
and chief executive had any interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company (including their spouse and children under
18 years of age) has been granted, or exercised, any rights to subscribe
for shares of the Company and associated corporation required to be
disclosed pursuant to SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to

acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ L
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS 2 hE
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2013, the following parties (other than the directors

and chief executive of the Company, whose interests have been

A T AL R 20 B B R SR 336k 2 BB T AR L 2
Bk > RoF-=4F=A=+—H kL
SCT 5 8 FLE 2 2 A R R AT BN B A
VLN N A AR R 5% e DA LBy Z e 4

disclosed above) had interests of 5% or more in the shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

TR A2y v 3 BBy Z 5

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

Number of ordinary shares held

i i ¥ 0 B I B 2 0 H
Direct/ Family
personal interests Corporate Approximate
interests (interests of interests percentage of
(held as spouse or (interests of the Company’s
beneficial minor controlled Total issued
Name of substantial shareholder owner) children) corporation) interests  share capital
2 Ji i 2
ik (1E % % O vl B2 fhina
PN £ A AR (Pl 2 5 CRITBAZ
EV Y3 B (E#R¥FAH) TR ZHEdR) s MATEAk
SAL SAL 52,907,250% - - 52,907,250 20.38%
CGL CGL 30,914,000 - - 30,914,000 11.91%
WU Mei Yung, Quinly WA - 37,644,000  53,095,177% 90,739,177 34.95%

Notes:

®

(i1)

SAL is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse,
Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. This interest is also included as a corporate
interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and described in Note (i)(b) in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any
associated corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary shares of
the Company”.

CGL is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. This interest is
also included as a corporate interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and
described in Note (i)(a) in the above section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any associated corporation” under “Long
positions in the ordinary shares of the Company”.

() SALTYHEEEEERHEEFHREL L2 EHA
Z v o MRS T B HE A R G (b) [ 20 % R 5 g A7 B
N BT AR 2 W) AT el A T T Oy B A I e 2 e
1 B R | 4 B TR A4 W) 35 8 B e A 2 4 A
— VR U 0 AT B R A SR A R 2 A AR o

(i) CGLJG 7 M 5 A 2 B B o UL 25 O 0 55 7 Mt
#E(i) (a) [ 75 5 R g W A7 BN R AR 2 ) Sl AT 4] 4 06 3
B 47 T R I A 2 2 B BRIR AT ] 4 B P TR AR
O ) 3 38 B PR A7 A | — T T B R A S M S
Frfi 2 hEs o
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Report of the Directors EE & # &

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iii) Out of the 37,644,000 shares, 6,730,000 shares (representing 2.59% of
the issued share capital of the Company) are beneficially held by Mr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen. Therefore, his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly,
is deemed to have an interest therein. This interest is also included as
a personal interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen in the above section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation”. The remaining 30,914,000 shares, representing 11.91% of
the issued share capital of the Company, are owned by CGL. This interest
is also included as a corporate interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and
described in Note (i)(a) in the above section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any associated corporation” under “Long
positions in the ordinary shares of the Company”.

(iv) Out of the 53,095,177 shares, 187,927 shares (representing 0.072% of
the Company’s issued share capital) are beneficially owned by FSMHL.
The remaining 52,907,250 shares, representing 20.38% of the Company’s
issued share capital, are owned by SAL. These interests are also included
as corporate interests of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and described in
Note (i)(b) and (c) in the above section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any associated corporation” under “Long
positions in the ordinary shares of the Company”.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2013, no persons (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or
any associated corporation”) had interests and/or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme commenced on 17 September 2002 was
terminated on 28 August 2012 (the “Terminated Scheme”) and was
replaced by a new share option scheme approved by the shareholders
of the Company on 28 August 2012 (the “Scheme”). Details of the
share option scheme are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

There was no outstanding share option under the Terminated Scheme
and/or the Scheme at the beginning and at the end of the year. During
the year ended 31 March 2013, no share option under the Terminated

Scheme and/or the Scheme was granted.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, JP, PhD (honoris causa),
aged 65, has been an executive director of the Company since May
1997. Dr. Tai is the chairman of the Group, in charge of corporate and
policy planning. Apart from being awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star and
Silver Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“HKSAR”), Dr. Tai has also been appointed as
Justice of the Peace. He is a Visiting Professor of South China Normal
University and South China Agricultural University, member of the
Board of Trustees of Jinan University. He is a Standing Committee
Member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and a Standing Committee Member of the
Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”). Dr. Tai holds several public
positions, including the president of the Hong Kong Foodstuffs
Association, the president of Hong Kong Japan Confectionery,
Biscuit & Foodstuffs Association, the president of Friends of Hong
Kong Association, the founding chairman of the Hong Kong CPPCC
(Provincial) Members Association, the chairman of the Hong Kong
Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors, the consultant of the China
National Food Industry Association, Economic Adviser of Jilin City
and a member of the Greater Pearl River Delta Business Council of the
HKSAR. He received a number of awards and accolades, including the
World Outstanding Chinese Award, the Philanthropist Award of the
Grand Charity Ceremony 2011, the 30th Food Industry Distinguished
Service Award, the Award of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Fisheries of Japan for the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the
Outstanding Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry,
the China Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished
Management Entrepreneur, the Social Responsibility Contribution
Award, “Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”, “Honourable Citizen of
Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen of Jilin City” in Mainland
China. He is also the founder and chairman of Four Seas Mercantile
Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”), an associated corporation of the
Company and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and a director of Careful Guide Limited and Special
Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders of the
Company. Dr. Tai is the father of Mr. Tai Chun Kit who has been
appointed as an executive director of the Company on 1 May 2013.

o S ma A BN BB A
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 57, has been an executive
director of the Company since July 1995. Mr. Man is the managing
director of the Group, responsible for the overall management
planning and control. Mr. Man has a Master of Commerce degree
from the University of New South Wales in Australia. He is also a
member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has gained extensive experience in finance and
accounting from overseas multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined
the Group in 1992. He is also an executive director of FSMHL.

Mr. TAI Chun Kit, aged 30, has been an executive director of the
Company since May 2013. Mr. Tai is responsible for new businesses
planning and development of the Group including the development of
the business of “Daiso Living Department Store” in Guangzhou. Mr.
Tai holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons) degree. He
has extensive experience in retail management, brands development
and marketing planning. He joined FSMHL, an associated corporation
of the Group, in 2004 and he has been the general manager of Fancy
Talent Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary engaging in the retail
business of FSMHL, since 2007. He joined the Group in 2012. He
is a son of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, who is the chairman and an

executive director of the Company.

Mr. YIP Wai Keung, aged 63, has been an executive director of
the Company since May 1997. Mr. Yip is responsible for business
development of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yip was
responsible for the sales and marketing activities in a Japanese food
company in Hong Kong. He has more than 30 years’ experience in the
sales development. Mr. Yip joined the Group in 1997. He is also an
executive director of FSMHL.

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 52, has been an executive director of the
Company since August 1992. Mr. Tse is responsible for the food
quality control of the Group. He has extensive experience in food
manufacturing and factory production management. Mr. Tse joined the
Group in 1980. He is also a director and the general manager of Hong
Kong Ham Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of FSMHL.

Mr. LAI Yuk Chuen, aged 58, has been an executive director of the
Company since July 1995. Mr. Lai is responsible for the strategic sales
and marketing of the Group. He has extensive experience in trading

and marketing. Mr. Lai joined the Group in 1984.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR HEHEENBERABBEERY ()
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors ¥k JE AT g

Mr. CHAN Kay Cheung, aged 66, has been an independent non- BEBLE B - 660K » H — UL+ A Rl EARA
executive director of the Company since October 1995. He is a HZBALIERATESE - BRAEABEREMITERA
senior adviser of The Bank of East Asia, Limited, the vice chairman A AR ~ RERRAT (P ED) ERAFREREE &
of The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited and the chairman of PRV RGN BEMITEREEATERERE » fFH1R
Shaanxi Fuping BEA Rural Bank Corporation. He possesses extensive A7 5 EL R G0 ek A e ar RER o [R SE A A A R AR AT R

knowledge and experience in the banking industry. Mr. Chan is a FZ2EGEL s YWIHAEREBEESMEMREEFERR
fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers, a member BEHRE - ZEERWKERS LFRRERE - H#
of the Process Review Committee for the oversight of the Hong R E R R R R B R SR R PR
Kong Monetary Authority, a member of the Clearing and Settlement HRAZBEGREB NRWKREE A\ BRBUT B B A A 5%

Systems Appeals Tribunal, a member of the Committee of Overseers o BESCAE BphEEFEBEERARAR ~ BRIL
of Lee Woo Sing College, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a MELE (R BRAT - KEFEEARAT &
member of The China Unionpay International Advisory Group and an MR ERRATZB I IERTEE s S5 AT Z
international senior economic consultant of The People’s Government By YRR AR A o

of Shaanxi Province. Mr. Chan is also an independent non-executive
director of China Electronics Corporation Holdings Company Limited,
Chu Kong Shipping Enterprises (Group) Company Limited, Dah
Chong Hong Holdings Limited and SOCAM Development Limited,

companies whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange.

Mr. LAN Yee Fong, Steve John, aged 72, has been an independent Wk 2 B— L UNE—ARIBEAR
non-executive director of the Company since January 1998. He was Nl Z WL IE AT E o BG4 W fEEvergreen
the chairman of Evergreen Consultants Limited, president of Inswire Consultants LimitedZ 3§ MInswire Insurance
Insurance Limited and chairman of Zurich Financial Services Group, LimitedZ 44 & o 1§ JF % #% Z {£: % Zurich Financial
Hong Kong. Currently, Mr. Lan is the chairman of The Hong Kong Services Group, Hong Kong 1 o B a4z B 2 F s B
Tuberculosis, Chest and Heart Diseases Association, the chairman of BOMWME KRGS TR BRllEREREET T
the Hospital Governing Committee of Grantham Hospital, a member o I B B ERRRSIRRETRE M
of the Hospital Governing Committee of Ruttonjee Hospital and Tang NEREERTEREHERBEERE - HEERE
Shiu Kin Hospital, and a member of the management committee of WRE N AR REETEEE R - R
Freni Care and Attention Home. He is a graduate of The University B R EREMSMEE > WIFEASBRAPERER

of Hong Kong and a fellow of The Chartered Insurance Institute. Mr.
Lan has extensive experience in the insurance industry with intensive

involvement in corporate development.

Mr. LUI Shing Ming, Brian, aged 53, has been an independent non- BHBWIkA > 535 A FFNELARBLEAL
executive director of the Company since September 2004. Mr. Lui FZBrIERITER  c FRAEBEEWNHRERTRA
is currently the chairman of Cheong Ming Investments Limited, a B ZERE s EARIRAEAR I EMR B o FBRERE
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lui LN T B R T T R B SR AT o B ] IR 2 TR
holds a Master Degree in Commerce from the University of New South R AT ABEEITMAGTZERTE -

Wales, Australia. He is a fellow member of both the CPA Australia
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management

Mr. LEUNG Tin Chi, aged 49, is the financial controller and
company secretary, responsible for finance, accounting and company
secretarial affairs. Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor of Business degree
from Swinburne University of Technology in Australia. He is also a
member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Leung has extensive accounting experience.
He joined the Group in 1994.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 92%
of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest

supplier included therein amounted to 68%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial

interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers. As at 31
March 2013, the Group had banking facilities of HK$406,000,000, of
which 45% had been utilised. The Group had a gearing ratio of 45%
as at 31 March 2013. This is expressed as the total bank borrowings
to equity attributable to equity holders of the Company. Bank
borrowings of the Group, denominated in Hong Kong dollars, are
mainly short term loans and trust receipt loans (the “Interest-bearing
Bank Borrowings™) at prevailing market interest rates. The Interest-
bearing Bank Borrowings which are classified as current liabilities are
repayable within one year. As at 31 March 2013, the Group held cash
and cash equivalents of HK$65,884,000. There were no significant
changes in the Group’s contingent liabilities and no charges on the

Group’s assets during the year under review.

STAFF EMPLOYMENT

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2013 was
168. Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to
market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are
normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and other

relevant factors.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF AR AN Bl a2 ek
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY A

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed AR ) T FCAT o] B RS 2 1 7 4 B P R SR U L - i Il
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year. B AR A R B i S
CONTINUING CONNECTED 5 281 il 2L 32 B)

TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had the following continuing connected N REEBETD THREBER S » KA T3H
transactions, certain details of which are disclosed in compliance with IE LW RS 14AZ R € AT EE

the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Purchase of pre-packed food and beverage products I T O A 2 A Ok

On 6 August 2012, the Company entered into a Master Supply N —TEN\HANH » AN T BLE 2 /A 5 194
Agreement (the “Master Supply Agreement”) with an associate, [ 57 or 4 R o k([ EE R 1) » % B da Iy i
FSMHL, for purchases of pre-packed food and beverage products HE (& KHEMBATF) EEZETHLEBER
manufactured by FSMHL and/or its subsidiaries for a term MmAEOR s At EN R REE R —HE=H
commencing from the date of the Master Supply Agreement until 31 =+—HIik-

March 2015.

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the amount paid by the Group to BERE=A=HA=1t+—HILEE » KEHKE
FSMHL and/or its subsidiaries for the purchases of pre-packed food BT 2 A A A R OB 1 DY N AR (B B
and beverage products was approximately HK$3,113,000. A HE]) XATZFRIE K 53,113,000 70 ©

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have RAFBVIERTEEOFMN LEF R B EEES
reviewed the continuing connected transactions in relation to the S OB 2 FR R B 5 J OO R I 5 R A
purchases of pre-packed food and beverage products set out above MR B TIORAREEZ HH R — R EE BT
and have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were ()% — M T AR B IR A T ARE B AR BN AT oL
entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the BERE R 2 A6k s RGO IBEM B W > A FS A
Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable A AR ) B TR R 2% BT SR AR AR o

to the Group than terms available from independent suppliers; and (iii)
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of

the Company as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter
has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and internal controls. The Audit Committee

comprises the independent non-executive directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and work of the Audit Committee is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual Report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, JP
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2013
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2013.

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below
Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintain
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders.
The Company believes that good corporate governance is essential
to a continual growth and enhancement of shareholders’ value. The
Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices
with reference to the latest development of corporate governance.
Throughout the year under review, the Company has applied the
principles of and complied with most of the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules with the exception of code provisions A.4.1
and A.4.2 of the CG Code, details will be set out below.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of prudent
and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed;
delegate authorities to the management to manage and supervise
the business of the Group; and ensure the management monitor

performance against objectives being set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to the
management which include the day-to-day business operation of the
Group, execution of corporate strategies, business and financial plans
and budgets approved by the Board and preparation of annual and
interim financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decisions
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant changes in
accounting or capital structure; approval of public announcements
and the financial statements; approval of major acquisitions, disposals
and major capital projects; approval of material borrowings and any
issuing or buying back of equity securities; approval of the annual
budget and setting of the dividend policy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises nine directors consisting of six

executive directors and three independent non-executive directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board

and Board’s Committees:

Hge (5
o F AL

AATZEREGHIAEFAR > KR4 HRAT
EH A MBI IERATES

Board of Directors

Wiy

Executive directors

HITHF

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
WAEW ()

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director)
SCIK R (A PE)

TAI Chun Kit*

T A

YIP Wai Keung

AR

TSE Siu Wan

T

LAI Yuk Chuen

RER

Independent non-executive directors
B HE B AT # T

CHAN Kay Cheung

BRAH 5

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John

Lo 9]

LUI Shing Ming, Brian

085 W

ERGRERFTR G M SRR T

Company Secretary

A )R

LEUNG Tin Chi
RR

26

Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Nomination Committee
HBRERG HMEHG RAZBAH
CHAN Kay Cheung (Chairman) LAN Yee Fong, Steve John (Chairman) TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
BRMCE (£ ) BRI (EH) W (FEE)
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John TAI Tak Fung, Stephen MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis
[oE ) o pEie
LUI Shing Ming, Brian MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis CHAN Kay Cheung
I SCK R B B
CHAN Kay Cheung LAN Yee Fong, Steve John
BRAL B [aEpi)
LUI Shing Ming, Brian LUI Shing Ming, Brian
T b
*  With effect from 1 May 2013, Mr. Tai Chun Kit has been appointed as an * HoF—=8TH B, Bt ERTA

executive director of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

Biographical information and relevant relationships of the directors
are set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” in the Report of the Directors of this Annual Report.

Board Meeting
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as

other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the year ended
31 March 2013 and the attendance record of each director at the said
board meetings and the annual general meeting of the Company is set

out below:

#Ag (5
O LA ()

R e A% S T R PR O A4 o
HNTHER LR A BB -

7k
B ik kR IR

AR 9 ST B > W I T AR A T R
SR~ B I R B e R R AR A LR
HoAty 7R 5 -

FEEREER-=ZF=A=Z+HIEFEHRA
VO Uk E Y o A% b A A e RO
FREZ MRS T

Number of meetings attended/held

BT KB

Regular Annual
Name of directors Board Meeting General Meeting
HHAM g Ak JBe I AR K 61
Executive directors H A7 #HF
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) AR (FEE) 4/4 1/1
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director) — 3Lk (# F 4 45 PH) 4/4 1/1
TAI Chun Leung* E L 2/2 0/1
YIP Wai Keung 1E R 4/4 1/1
TSE Siu Wan A E 4/4 1/1
LAI Yuk Chuen REH 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive directors B r I B AT T
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAE B 4/4 1/1
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John BEFTT 4/4 1/1
LUI Shing Ming, Brian G 4/4 1/1

* Mr. Tai Chun Leung retired at the annual general meeting of the

Company held on 28 August 2012.

o WUEREAECHR SR TENA S AR RIGZA
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms
of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
three days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors
for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and final

version is open for directors’ inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal

with the matter.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”) to appoint any person as
a director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional member
of the Board. Appointments are first considered by the Nomination
Committee and recommendations of the Nomination Committee are
then put to the Board for decision. Details in respect of the process
and criteria for the Nomination Committee to select and recommend
candidates for directorship are provided in the section headed

“Nomination Committee”.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Directors’ Appointment and Re-election (continued)

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation for re-election by
shareholders at annual general meeting, such that every director is
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, all
independent non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Articles of Association. As such, the Board considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the
CG Code.

Under the code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after their appointment. Every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the
Articles of Association, any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
and shall then be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that
such a deviation is not material as casual vacancy seldom appears and
interval between the appointment made to fill casual vacancy and the
immediate following annual general meeting is short.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

All directors have complied with the code provision in relation
to continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The board of directors of the Company
comprising Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, Mr. Man Wing Cheung,
Ellis, Mr. Tai Chun Leung (who retired on 28 August 2012), Mr. Yip
Wai Keung, Mr. Tse Siu Wan and Mr. Lai Yuk Chuen as executive
directors, and Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve
John and Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian as independent non-executive
directors, all of them have attended a briefing during a board meeting
of the Company held during the year, with relevant reading materials
given to directors, on corporate governance, regulatory developments
and changes of accounting standards. In addition, relevant reading
materials on the abovementioned topics or other topics relevant to the
Company’s business and director’s duties and responsibilities have
been given to the directors of the Company from time to time during
the year ended 31 March 2013.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development (continued)

The Company continuously updates the directors on developments in
the statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.

Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Mr. Man Wing Cheung,
Ellis hold the positions of Chairman and Managing Director
respectively. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and

set out in writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for managing the Group’s business, including
implementation of objectives, policies and major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board. He is also in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day operation in accordance with the instructions

from the Board.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive directors, representing one-third
of the Board, with one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise
as required under Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules. The Company has received a written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive director of his independence and the
Company considers the existing independent non-executive directors
to be independent under the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules up to the date of this Annual Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference which are available to shareholders upon
request. The terms of reference of the Board committees are also
available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) HRERAY (H)
Audit Committee wKEZRG

The Audit Committee was established with specific written terms TR B & ORI DL T AT 0 A8 i R
of reference and all of its members are independent non-executive s MR BB LB IERTERF > AP -4 R
directors, one of them possesses the appropriate professional T G Y B3 M B E SO R T S A B P

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. ko FHEE B GBI A= 4 Mo JE AT IE F B
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non- BRE (FHEZAGFm) ~ By ed KRB
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Kay Cheung (Chairman of the Ao

Audit Committee), Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John and Mr. Lui Shing
Ming, Brian.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and BRZAGZIFEBE LT L EEREEAYE
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control system R R B R b i) R A > DL B RARA R S R

of the Group, to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial BV 5 PR i e Bk > BRUA 2 ) A B A R A
statements and financial reporting, to maintain an appropriate 1% U REBEFRZRE -

relationship with the Company’s auditors, and to oversee the audit

process.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 FEREHGNKE_F-=F=H=1—HILFE
March 2013 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted AT IR &3 > FRIAEE iR AN Z & 55 A&
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting o U KetimN R R B EREE - AEEH
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for ARARRBEZ-_FNLA=ZTHIEAEAZ B
the six months ended 30 September 2012 and the annual financial MMBEHRERRRE - —"H=ZHA=+—HIL%¥
statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 of the Company. The BEZBHERE FREZEGSCHEMARAERARET
Audit Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year F—=ZF=ZHAZ+—HILFEZFJEES -

ended 31 March 2013 of the Group.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set AR EFNZEGRBZ M sEmT

out below:

Name of committee members Number of meetings attended/held
ZHABRHEAR M BT K
CHAN Kay Cheung (Chairman of Audit Committee) BRI E (FEHZEA TN 212
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John BT 272
LUI Shing Ming, Brian Gl 2/2
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) HRERAY (H)

Remuneration Committee HWZERG

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written 2 B O A& N DL ST T R B Ik R AR
terms of references and is currently constituted by three independent s B  B B = 2B kTR iRy ek
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John (HrBZE 8 & F4) ~ WALB Jatk &5 B B Je A4 B
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Chan Kay Cheung BT o S W A X SR R O A AR o

and Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian and two executive directors, namely

Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis.

The Company has adopted the model where the Remuneration A2 ) BR AN ZE B ) A R AT

Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration FAEENBZMEHA RN SR EERYE - 3
packages of individual executive directors and senior management. B2z B Z 3 B R A w3 R
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make BN B Z 4 2 BOR B AR > DL B il o 5 I e A
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for EHMABZMEME  mEFFRLER -

the remuneration of all directors and senior management and the
remuneration packages of individual directors and senior management

of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee has convened one meeting during 3N 2 B € 7E 5] R AE B N8R AT — R gk o R (3
the year to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration policy and LG A AR B 2 TN SR B e s DI R B

structure, and the remuneration of all directors for the year under BT B JE ) T 4 o AR W] A R I A R
review. Details of the emoluments of each director of the Company are S 285 i o B 8 o

set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the AAEFEH M ZE B G R B 2 sk ¢
year are set out below:

Name of committee members Number of meetings attended/held
ZHABRE AR R BT K B
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [y

(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (FZ B & W) 1/1
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen R 1/1
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SCK 1/1
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAHL S 1/1
LUI Shing Ming, Brian Gl 1/1

32 ANNUAL REPORT 2013



EREERREEZRARAA

Corporate Governance Report £ ¥ R | &

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) HFRBRHY(H)

Remuneration Committee (continued) iz B e ()

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the remuneration of the member of BE_ER-=ZH=A=1+—HILEEIEEEARAF
the senior management, not being directors of the Company, by band HRZEAEEN B ZHWALN 0T

is set out below:

Number of Persons

Remuneration band (HK$) 3 AL Gy ) A¥
Nil to 1,000,000 £ %1,000,000 1
Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the FRE b T A I B % 1 628 Bt 3 2 2 T 4 DL % T4 B
five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Hi AR B 8 2 — 2B FE N O s R M RS &
Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the 9 e

financial statements.

Nomination Committee RHEZHG

The Nomination Committee was established with specific written ARNFE ORISR B E o WL E R RS
terms of reference and currently comprises two executive directors, T MG 5 ) > LI by % AT R e A (R
namely Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of the Nomination ZATER) RO =BT EF
Committee) and Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis, and three independent BRAL B ek ~ Bige i Ja e SR B W Sa 2k Ak -
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Lan Yee

Fong, Steve John and Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review REZBEZEERE AN EFF AR - FRE
the Board composition, developing and formulating the relevant B ERALBRBEEEZMBART - BREFZE
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, monitoring A B L ) DL BT M L R AT S S o

the appointment and succession planning of directors and assessing the

independence of independent non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee also would carry out the selection process REAZB GG AEF G W B 22 e 17 P s
when there were vacancies on the Board, by making reference to the B 2FEFNBZHEE - K5 HEM - FA
skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time AR B BT B RR A TR 0 AR A ] 04 T B DA B 3 b A BE
commitments of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and Vi EK o

other relevant statutory requirements.

The Nomination Committee has convened one meeting during REZBGNENY A —REH > Bet (L a
the year to review, inter alia, the Board’s structure, size and ) FEEGEM - RN DR EFTEH
composition to ensure that it had a balance of expertise, skills and SEN T - A B R TG A R T o 8 A AR A W] 3
experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the B o AR BE Y > 1R 44 FH & ) # 5

Company. During the year under review, the Nomination Committee B (THEA D BERAR ZHITES -
has recommended Mr. Tai Chun Kit (“Mr. Tai”) as an executive HEHETEMERER > LREERAEEBEAAFZ
director of the Company to the Board. The Board has accepted the T HER R —=ZEHH —HRBEK-

recommendation and appointed Mr. Tai as an executive director of the

Company with effect from 1 May 2013.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee during the year

are set out below:

Name of committee members

wRZHG ()
R4 UG (5D

ASEERATEGZ MRS T

Number of meetings attended/held

ZHAMHAR BT WMWK Y
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen R

(Chairman of Nomination Committee) (185 ZH & +L0) 171
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis K 1/1
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 1/1
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [:56-yi) 1/1
LUI Shing Ming, Brian il 1/1

Corporate Governance Functions

For corporate governance, the Board is responsible for performing the

functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies

and practices, training and continuous professional development

of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and

practices in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,

the compliance of the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the

Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of

conduct regarding securities transactions by directors of the Company

(the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors

of the Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied

with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of

Conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2013.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities Transaction

by the Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code”) on no less

exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by the

employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of

the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Code

by the employees was noted by the Company throughout the year

ended 31 March 2013.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT % K b

Financial Reporting W

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the EHRPBEEAEEARARAAFRE_Z ==
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March A=Z+—HILEEZMBEREZ EE - mEREE
2013. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 TR EHEAZTHIEFEEZHMBERER O
March 2013, appropriate accounting principles and policies are TR 4 T RO T E R B R BUR 5 BT A 2 K B
selected and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are B A 51T e B A PR 5 i % B R O R A
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been A e R o

prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with AN T 22 A BN B ) O 5 PR 40 B E OB % AR
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the B AR S B IR EFE G AEH AN
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial 7 S B BAR DUAE i FEAL o

information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and WOV W T AR AT R A R R B

understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, inside B > WHREESRE P HHE S IREEZA
information announcements and other disclosures required under the HERBIE LT RS e R MBS EETIHEZ
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. Al & R o

The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Messrs. Ernst A ) AR AZ B 2 K € SRR B (%K ) 2 &
& Young (“E&Y”), are set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report of 5 SO AR 45 i =2 28 S A% B B g o

this Annual Report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that A ) R S TR 2 1 SR O = T OKOR IR AT R
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a B E RS Z 68 RS R R BRI o

going concern.

External Auditor’s Remuneration A I A% B v T 4

E&Y have been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor by RO ST — AR AR KRG B R ARA
shareholders at the 2012 annual general meeting until the conclusion W Z AL > M E R T R AREE R IL -
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for mEFEAERMARBERE - R2—=F=H=1+—H
providing audit services in connection with the financial statements for b A7 T 5 i A B A R R o

the year ended 31 March 2013.

For the year ended 31 March 2013, fees paid or payable to E&Y REE R -=ZH£=ZA=1+—HILFEE » LKz
amount to approximately HK$883,000 (2012: HK$715,000) for audit Bt B Et MBI E 2 O RN B & EA
and related services and HK$109,000 (2012: HK$104,000) for other 883,000¥ 70 (= F— A4F ¢ 715,000% 70 ) i I Al Ik ¢
non-audit services which include the taxation services. FHIRE (BRERE R ) Z AT 8 AT 2 F £1109,000

WL (ZF— 4 £ 104,000#0) °
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control

system to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Company’s
assets and reviewing its effectiveness. The system has been designed
to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the business objective.
Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement, loss or fraud. The Board has delegated
to the management the implementation of the strategies and policies on
internal controls and risk management adopted by the Board and the

review of relevant financial, operational and compliance controls and

risk management procedures.

36

During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function and their training

programmes and budget.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Tin Chi is the Company Secretary. During the year under
review, Mr. Leung undertook at least 15 hours of relevant professional

training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 67 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting, and extraordinary general meetings shall also be
convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 32 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”),
or, in default, may be convened by the requisitionists. Shareholder(s)
holding not less than one-twentieth of the paid up capital of the
Company may, in accordance with the requirements and procedures
set out in Section 113 of the Companies Ordinance, request the Board
to convene an extraordinary general meeting. The objects of the
meeting must be stated in the requisition which must be signed by the
requisitionist(s) and deposited at the registered office of the Company.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are available for viewing on the Company’s

website at www.hongkongfoodinvestment.com.hk.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Section 115A of the Companies Ordinance, shareholder(s)
representing not less than one-fortieth of the total voting rights of
all shareholders; or not less than 50 shareholders holding shares in
the Company on which there has been paid up an average sum, per
shareholder, of not less than HK$2,000, may make requisition in
writing for proposing resolution or business to be dealt with at the next
general meeting. Shareholder(s) should follow the requirements and
procedures as set out in Section 115A of the Companies Ordinance for
putting forward a proposal at a general meeting.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Company’s registered
office at Four Seas eFood Centre, No. 2 Hong Ting Road, Sai Kung,
Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

On 1 April 2012, the Board adopted a Shareholders’ Communication
Policy reflecting mostly current practices of the Company
for communication with its shareholders. Such policy aims at
disseminating information in relation to the Group to shareholders in
a timely manner through a number of formal channels, which include
interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars, and is
reviewed regularly by the Board to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at www.hongkongfoodinvestment.
com.hk as a communication platform with shareholders and investors,
where information and updates on the Company’s announcements,
business developments/operations and other information are available
for public access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The
Chairman of the Board and Board committees actively participate
in the annual general meeting and answer questions from the
shareholders. Notice of the annual general meeting is sent to the
shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the meeting. All
resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings including the annual
general meeting will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules and the poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and of the Company after each shareholder meeting.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to the Articles of Association. A consolidated version of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Auditors’ Report B 3 #% & i 8 &

Elf ERNST & YOUNG
=2 K

To the shareholders of
Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong
Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 40 to 128,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial
position as at 31 March 2013, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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To the shareholders of
Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2013, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
27 June 2013
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Consolidated Income Statement & § R & &

Year ended 31 March 2013 BE=Z—=4=HA=+—HLLFE

2013 2012
R =4 R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M &t T o BT

REVENUE KA 5 386,056 711,865
Cost of sales 8 B B A (393,679) (725,838)
Gross loss | 2R (7,623) (13,973)
Other income and gains oAt e A B W 25 5 3,902 2,980
Selling and distribution expenses P98 ey S 2 (16,549) (3,387)
Administrative expenses ATECBH % (28,975) (29,885)
Finance costs Tl B A 6 3,979) (3,088)
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A W52 2 =) i A K s 15 32,874 15,506
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial RN TE B W HEH 25 A BRI

assets at fair value through S EZ AT E

profit or loss Wzt (i) 18 (5,044)
LOSS BEFORE TAX i e 1 M5 444 7 (20,332) (36,891)
Income tax expense e 45 B B 52 10 (3,288) (292)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR 7 A JBE B B s A 4 W) Yy

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY BERPiAH2Z R

HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 11 (23,620) (37,183)

HK cents HK cents
Al A

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 7 2 v ¥% 3 B 25 i /5 %

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS M 4% 45 It s 45

OF THE COMPANY

— Basic and diluted — e A % 4 v 13 (9.10) (14.32)
Details of the dividends for the year are disclosed in note 12 to the A B A A BE I B B SR N B R B a2 o

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income % & 2 | W # &

Year ended 31 March 2013 BE=Z—=F=H=+—HILFE

2013 2012
- Sy G- S -
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T W T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AR AR BE i 4R (23,620) (37,183)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AR AF B 3 Aib 22 i
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR W2k O R)
Share of other comprehensive R A B 88 2 ] HL At 2
income/(loss) of associates, Wik (EH) >
net of tax B B 1% 8,232 (480)
Exchange differences on translation A v A ZE 5 B TE B 25 A
of foreign operations 391 —
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AAE AL AW R UE#) -
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE B Bi 1%
YEAR, NET OF TAX 8,623 (480)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 7 AF B 48 2 i s 1
LOSS FOR THE YEAR 5 B R A A 7l
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY YRR
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (14,997) (37,663)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position & & B # R R &

31 March 2013 —2—=5=A=+—8

2013 2012
TR =4 R
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Mk W0 T 8 1 T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ik Gt W) ¥
Property, plant and equipment L/ B & ] 14 88,794 76,822
Investments in associates RS AR ZBE 16 370,465 338,838
Prepayments and deposits TAAT KT B i 4 20 2,522 -
Deferred tax assets BIEFLIE A 26 - 2,961
Other non-current asset Al 38 B A 17 540 540
Total non-current assets IR B A A 462,321 419,161
CURRENT ASSETS R ) %
Due from associates JRE W W 2 A ) 16 - 154
Inventories B 18 74,830 168,068
Trade receivables HE W B 5 Bk 3k 19 22,377 52,603
Tax recoverable w] Y 5] A E 269 269
Prepayments, deposits and TN R ~ 7T K
other receivables Al JRE ek I 20 6,059 1,623
Financial assets at fair value through N TFAE IR 25 AR
profit or loss Py 4 il 21 178 15,118
Cash and cash equivalents B4 R B4 S HIE H 22 65,884 63,960
Total current assets T A A 169,597 301,795
CURRENT LIABILITIES o B £1 4%
Due to an associate JE A5} Wi 2% O\ ) 16 181 -
Trade and bills payables AT B 5 MR B 5 23 28,904 26,873
Other payables and accruals A 8 ARk sk T % B it AR 24 11,157 12,622
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH AT R B Z SRAT B 25 183,786 255,292
Total current liabilities i B A AR 224,028 294,787
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ W R (A6 S8
(LIABILITIES) (54,431) 7,008
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT 8% 7 WG B £ A%
LIABILITIES 407,890 426,169
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES et B 8 4%
Accruals FEFH A 24 897 -
Deferred tax liabilities AR 4 o T £ 4% 26 1,777 1,450
Total non-current liabilities IR B A A 2,674 1,450
Net assets =gl 405,216 424,719
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position %z & B #& R )R &

31 March 2013 =Z2—=5=H8=+—H

2013 2012
g X - Sy
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
i3 YT o
EQUITY B £
Issued capital CEEAT B AR 27 25,959 25,959
Reserves ikt 16 29(a) 379,257 396,164
Proposed final dividend e R Jt B 12 - 2,596
Total equity HE 25 48 {8 405,216 424,719
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen 3% & MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis XK
Director # % Director # %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in

Year ended 31 March 2013 BE=Z—=4=HA=+—HLLFE

Equity R SR 2 8 R

Share of
Share Capital ~ Exchange other Proposed
Issued  premium redemption fluctuation reserves of  Retained final Total
capital account reserve reserve assoc%t{es profits  dividend equity
L
u#f R B BERYEH BAAY ERAN
Bk WEUR BB Wil JCfRE  RERA RA A
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Wit EWTFT ERTT EWTT BETL EWTL ENTFL W T ENTx
(Note 29(a))
(Hi#29)
At 1 April 2011 REF——ELH—H 25959 90,557 579 - 25,841 322,061 7,788 472,785
Loss for the year N = = - - - (37,183) - (37,183)
Other comprehensive loss REFIM2TES :
for the year:
Share of other comprehensive TR ) A Al
loss of associates, net of tax 2TEE  RHR - - - = (480) = = (480)
Total comprehensive loss REEAR TGS
for the year - - - - (480) (37,183) - (37,663)
Final 2011 dividend declared HR-F-—ERHRE - - - - - - (1788)  (1.788)
Interim 2012 dividend ZE-CEPHRE 12 - - - - - (2.5%) - (25%)
Proposed final 2012 dividend “ER-CHEERAMRE 12 - - - - - (2,596) 2,59 -
Decrease in interest in a subsidiary TG A 2 W A
of the associates ZERRY = = = = = (19) - (19)
Transfer to share of other BREEGERE AR
reserves of associates Al f - - - - (40) 40 - -
At 31 March 2012 REZ-ZHEZAZ+—H 25,959 90,557* 579* —* 25,321%  279,707* 2,596 4247119
At 1 April 2012 R_Z—"FNH—H 25,959 90,557 579 - 25,321 219,707 2,596 424719
Loss for the year KEEER = = - - - (3620 - (3620
Other comprehensive income AR JEHAL 2 TS
for the year:
Share of other comprehensive income  FEAY i & A ] (9 H
of associates, net of tax 2T R - - = = 8,232 - = 8,232
Exchange differences on translation ~ #5Ib S Z [ 3 2 4
of foreign operations - - - 391 - - - 301
Total comprehensive loss REEARTEER
for the year - - - 391 8,232 (23,620) - (14,997)
Final 2012 dividend declared HR-Z-ZERHRE - - - - - - 25%)  (25%)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest OB 2 4 7l Z I 2 7l 2
of the associates” subsidiary ERrlg £ - - - - 548 (2438) = (1910)
Transfer to share of other reserves HREEGRE AR
of associates A it - - - - 118 (118) - -
At 31 March 2013 [ St i g pe 25959 90,557 579+ 90+ 34019% 253511 - 405216

& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$379,257,000 (2012: HK$396,164,000) in the consolidated statement

of financial position.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign Investment

Enterprises in the People’s Republic of China, as at 31 March 2013,
the share of other reserves of associates of HK$2,137,000 (2012:
HK$1,929,000) is non-distributable in nature and can be utilised to offset

the losses incurred.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows %R & R € K B &

Year ended 31 March 2013 BE=Z—=F=H=+—HILFE

2013 2012
R A R T
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000
Mt -3 WHWF T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING #EEHEHMHZIA SR
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax I 56 I s 2 (20,332) (36,891)
Adjustments for: BV A T 5 4 TE A Y i
Finance costs Bl R AR 6 3,979 3,088
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A Bk 2 2 R s 1) X% e 4R (32,874) (15,506)
Bank interest income SRAT R BB A 5 (34) (100)
Dividend income from financial assets A T B 1R 7 AR
at fair value through profit or loss P 4 il 2 2 B B A 5 (693) (205)
Gain on disposal of items of property, W&k -~ B K
plant and equipment HHzZ W 5 (110) =
Gain on disposal of financial assets at B A B R A
fair value through profit or loss AR iy 4 il g 2 W3S 5 (1,323) (1,194)
Gain on deemed acquisition of Pl ARAE g AT 2 4w A
additional interests in an associate RE 25 2 W25 5 (496) (28)
Depreciation e 14 4,049 2,851
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial AT BB ARN
assets at fair value through SBWE B2 A CTAE
profit or loss WG (BeEs) 7 (18) 5,044
Impairment of trade receivables JRE Wi B 5 R K A 7 - 3,129
Write-down of inventories to S Do 77 £ 22 R) A B
net realisable value 7 2,968 10,116
(44,884) (29,696)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due JRE W 42 A Rl sk JE Z
from associates WA () 154 (63)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories HEZWA () 90,270 (51,842)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables JHE W B 5 R Ak =z WA (B m) 30,226 (15,007)
Increase in prepayments, deposits T AR ~ 5T K& H At
and other receivables JRE WAk T 2 38 T (6,959) (723)
Increase in amounts due to associates JREAS Wi 42 2 R K JE 2 HG 181 -
Increase/(decrease) in trade and FEAT R SRR KR RZ
bills payables B, (@A) 2,031 (11,744)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables JHL Al JRE A T % M A
and accruals Z W, () 30 (1,274) 4,721
Cash generated from/(used in) operations BEEBEBA () 284 69,745 (104,354)
Hong Kong profits tax refunded 7B [ 7 v ) 45 B - 1,505
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating BBEEBEZBER/A(Fl)
activities — page 46 BFH—46H 69,745 (102,849)
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. — 3 =
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows &R &8 B € R & &
Year ended 31 March 2013 HZ=—Z—=5=A=+—ALtFE
2013 2012
R A R T
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000
Mt -3 W WF T
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating MBEBEZBERA (Hd)
activities — page 45 HH—45H 69,745 (102,849)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BEEHZB R
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received O Y ERAT A S 34 100
Dividends received from financial assets  WH 3% 2 F 1 78 # 48 25 A IR
at fair value through profit or loss Py 4 il E 2 B B 693 205
Dividends received from an associate W I 2 o ] S 8,066 8,066
Purchases of items of property, AW - e Kk E H
plant and equipment (15,123) (200)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value i A% A V{5 72 i 15 25 AR
through profit or loss Py 4 il A - (5,290)
Proceeds from disposal of an item of MEWE - BE LR MIEA
property, plant and equipment ZBA 110 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets H} 5% A T8 7 8 8 #2 A Bk
at fair value through profit or loss B 4 i 2 BT AR N 16,281 5,974
Net cash flows from investing activities & ¥EBHZ Bl &R A F# 10,061 8,855
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING @ %82 Bl &3 &
ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans 4G SR AT B A RE R B 319,881 755,985
Repayment of bank and trust receipt loans 15 %2 {47 5 3k & 15 w6 W £ 2k (391,387) (648,914)
Interest paid AT A B (3,979) (3,088)
Dividends paid SRS (2,596) (10,384)
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEFEBZHERA S (FH)
financing activities e | (78,081) 93,599
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN BRERBEFHEAZ
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B, (W) S8 1,725 (395)
Cash and cash equivalents at ERZHERB&FMEEE
beginning of year 63,960 64,355
Effect of foreign exchange rate Al REE FEE 2 5 f 5% 2% > B
changes, net 199 -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZBERBEFMEA
AT END OF YEAR 65,884 63,960
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH 314 KBl &% H H &t
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Z
Cash and bank balances Bl 4 R BRAT 517 22 60,884 40,106
Time deposits with original maturity of  JF{A R H AR =M H
less than three months when acquired 2 AR 22 5,000 23,854
65,884 63,960
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Statement of Financial Position Bt & Ak % &

31 March 2013 —2—=f=A=+—H

2013 2012
- Sy R
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000
Hf i BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS It By &
Investments in subsidiaries A A W 2 B 15 198,475 191,523
CURRENT ASSETS i I
Due from subsidiaries JHE W i Jeg A ) 15 468 445
Prepayments, deposits and TR ~ AT K
other receivables At JE Wtk I 20 127 129
Cash and bank balances Bl 4 R SRAT 5517 22 3,155 255
Total current assets T A A 3,750 829
CURRENT LIABILITIES i 0 £ 4
Due to subsidiaries JRE ) B )i 2 ) 15 31,108 21,560
Other payables and accruals O A 8 Ak sk T % E it £ £ 24 3,450 530
Total current liabilities i B £ R AR A 34,558 22,090
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES it By £ 4 ¥ (30,808) (21,261)
Net assets B R A 167,667 170,262
EQUITY HE 23
Issued capital [BREZ YN 27 25,959 25,959
Reserves it f 29(b) 141,708 141,707
Proposed final dividend B A RS 12 - 2,596
Total equity HE 25 48 {8 167,667 170,262
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen #75%! MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis 3 K+
Director # % Director #& %
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered
office of the Company is located at Four Seas eFood Centre, No.

2 Hong Ting Road, Sai Kung, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group’s principal activities consisted of the
trading of frozen meats, seafood and vegetables, and retailing
of consumer goods. The principal activities of associates are
the manufacturing and trading of snack foods, confectionery,
beverages, frozen food products, noodles, poultry products, ham

and ham-related products, and the operation of restaurants.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

As at 31 March 2013, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$54,431,000. The directors believe that the Group has
sufficient cash flows from operations to meet its liabilities as
and when they fall due. Therefore, the consolidated financial

statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2013.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group

transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #& 3 & M &

31 March 2013 —2—=f=A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 i WAL HE (4)

Basis of consolidation (continued) AW H R ()

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss — [A1 i} ) A W] 2 B A RERE 28R 2R A ) (IR R

of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. FREHIRE) » MIIRRER R 5 AR -

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) fifg A 45 9] S 2= 36— R B g o W) 2 e A > I

the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, MR OZM B AR Z EE (BREHE) KA

(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and & ~ (i) FE AT 422 I 2 < VR T A % i) A

(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; NRtsk > Bt a4 s REROIRREZ

and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, AR ~ Gi)FT R B AR & 2 A T8 K (i) 1R

(i1) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any 25 R AT IR B A A 2 B AR BRI 1R o Je i Y A

resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share At 2 i WAL i 3 P9 R R 2 A AR R A S Ay R 4

of components previously recognised in other comprehensive R % 18 2 ol R B W A (AT 3 S T ) -

income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as

appropriate.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 2.2 il WOoR B 9 % 2 % )

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the 24 [ BN AR B 2 A R IR IR A DL T &R

first time for the current year’s financial statements. 15T B v B 2 S A e Y o

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of TR HRERAE S (BTAR) BT R AR A5 15 A
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards — FRHBRE BN - REELTRR
Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of B SFREHEEHY
Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: TR ERERAE (BTK)  BIRERERE RS 2H LA
Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets HE-HAL B E

HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes — Bl a 8105 (BT K) HER A EE
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets BERTE : KRG E

The adoption of the revised HKFRSs has had no significant PR AN 5% 45 SRAG T 1 75 vk B 5 i 45 Y HI) Y 40 5%

financial effect on these financial statements. EMBMEELEERYEEE -
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKEFRS 9

HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKEFRS 12

HKERS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 Amendments

HKEFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and

HKAS 27 (2011)
Amendments

HKERS 13
HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 32 Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards —
Government Loans *

Amendments to HKERS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities *

Financial Instruments *

Consolidated Financial Statements *

Joint Arrangements *

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11
and HKFRS 12 - Transition Guidance *

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 27 (2011) — Investment Entities *

Fair Value Measurement *

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Presentation of Items
of Other Comprehensive Income '

Employee Benefits *

Separate Financial Statements *

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures *

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities *

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of
a Surface Mine *

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued
in June 2012 *

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

3

4

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #& 3 & M &

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require an entity to disclose
information about rights to set-off and related arrangements
(e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide
users with information that is useful in evaluating the effect
of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position.
The new disclosures are required for all recognised financial
instruments that are set off in accordance with HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also
apply to recognised financial instruments that are subject to an
enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement,
irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with HKAS
32. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April
2013.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of
a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses
on the classification and measurement of financial assets.
Instead of classifying financial assets into four categories, an
entity shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets. This aims to improve and simplify the approach for the
classification and measurement of financial assets compared with
the requirements of HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9
to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated
in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial
instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried
forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were
made to the measurement of financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option
(“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in
the fair value of a liability that is attributable to changes in
credit risk must be presented in other comprehensive income
(“OCTI”). The remainder of the change in fair value is presented
in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change
in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have been
designated under the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on
hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues to
apply. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2015.
The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with other
phases, when the final standard including all phases is issued.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all
entities including special purpose entities or structured entities.
It includes a new definition of control which is used to determine
which entities are consolidated. The changes introduced by
HKFRS 10 require management of the Group to exercise
significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled,
compared with the requirements in HKAS 27 and HK(SIC)-Int
12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 replaces
the portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated
financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised in
HK(SIC)-Int 12. Based on the preliminary analyses performed,
HKFRS 10 is not expected to have any impact on the currently
held investments of the Group.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers. It describes the accounting for joint
arrangements with joint control. It addresses only two forms
of joint arrangements, i.e., joint operations and joint ventures,
and removes the option to account for joint ventures using
proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and structured entities previously
included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS 28
Investments in Associates. It also introduces a number of new

disclosure requirements for these entities.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

In July 2012, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 which clarify the transition guidance
in HKFRS 10 and provide further relief from full retrospective
application of these standards, limiting the requirement to
provide adjusted comparative information to only the preceding
comparative period. The amendments clarify that retrospective
adjustments are only required if the consolidation conclusion as
to which entities are controlled by the Group is different between
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 27 or HK(SIC)-Int 12 at the beginning
of the annual period in which HKFRS 10 is applied for the first
time. Furthermore, for disclosures related to unconsolidated
structured entities, the amendments will remove the requirement
to present comparative information for periods before HKFRS 12
is first applied.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 issued in December 2012
include a definition of an investment entity and provide an
exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet
the definition of an investment entity. Investment entities are
required to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit
or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 rather than consolidate
them. Consequential amendments were made to HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011). The amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out
the disclosure requirements for investment entities. The Group
expects that these amendments will not have any impact on the
Group as the Company is not an investment entity as defined in
HKFRS 10.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and HKAS
28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS
11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (2011), HKAS 28 (2011), and the
subsequent amendments to these standards issued in July and
December 2012 from 1 April 2013.
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HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements
for use across HKFRSs. The standard does not change the
circumstances in which the Group is required to use fair value,
but provides guidance on how fair value should be applied where
its use is already required or permitted under other HKFRSs. The
Group expects to adopt HKFRS 13 prospectively from 1 April
2013.

The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or recycled)
to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, net gain
on hedge of a net investment, exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations, net movement on cash flow hedges and
net loss or gain on available-for-sale financial assets) would be
presented separately from items which will never be reclassified
(for example, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans
and revaluation of land and buildings). The amendments will
affect presentation only and have no impact on the financial
position or performance. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 April 2013.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that range
from fundamental changes to simple clarifications and re-
wording. The revised standard introduces significant changes
in the accounting for defined benefit pension plans including
removing the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial gains
and losses. Other changes include modifications to the timing of
recognition for termination benefits, the classification of short-
term employee benefits and disclosures of defined benefit plans.
The Group expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from 1 April 2013.

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently
has a legally enforceable right to setoff” for offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities. The amendments also clarify the
application of the offsetting criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement
systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply
gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 April
2014.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 ©AU B G R A 3 2 W W
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING el (49)
STANDARDS (continued)

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle issued TR TN H G BB B R R
in June 2012 sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. The BAAEFE 1P 2 4 JFH 51 H B A
Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2013. There 22 TE 75 W A 4 v I B BT o AN 45 E TH
are separate transitional provisions for each standard. While HoZ—Z=41H—HERMZZETT - £
the adoption of some of the amendments may result in changes e HI 5 5 AT 908 P A ST o BEARFR AR A BT AT
in accounting policies, none of these amendments are expected e st EREH » HHEZESETHA S
to have a significant financial impact on the Group. Those A A B A R R K B A R 2 o T ) A A
amendments that are expected to have a significant impact on the FEREREENZEETNT

Group’s policies are as follows:

(a) HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies (a) BWEGHRABISHTERENZD - &
the difference between voluntary additional comparative Y5 B JBE PR AP B s R B R E LR
information and the minimum required comparative B2 ZER - — S > BIKHE IR
information. Generally, the minimum required comparative WA ARSI o B — B A B AL
period is the previous period. An entity must include 1181 351 5] DA A 4 B o S Bk e > HLZE P B S i
comparative information in the related notes to the financial 5 1R B BRFRE R RO LB IR B R o B AN bR g
statements when it voluntarily provides comparative EOR 8 A A e B R o

information beyond the previous period. The additional
comparative information does not need to contain a

complete set of financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the opening BeA > FZAEET T - W E S W H e
statement of financial position as at the beginning of the EoERBWEY RETES B A
preceding period must be presented when an entity changes 7] 5 Wl B A IR 0 R A B ER RS 2 > HIIE
its accounting policies; makes retrospective restatements S0 {30 R B 4 R ) S ) B AR L R
or makes reclassifications, and that change has a material SR o b B B B R G B0 0 B IR DL R
effect on the statement of financial position. However, the P4 FH 8 BE 5 B 4528 B %)) o

related notes to the opening statement of financial position
as at the beginning of the preceding period are not required
to be presented.

(b) HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation: Clarifies (b) HWEFTEANBFELM T A - 25 : k&
that income taxes arising from distributions to equity ¥ 1) BE 2% B A NAE IR B R Y R AR B
holders are accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12 B WG TR SB125E 0 A BENIR » %%
Income Taxes. The amendment removes existing income tax BT I 1 7 v B 5 RSB 32 8 M B B 15
requirements from HKAS 32 and requires entities to apply B E » WEORE R RS A AMEH
the requirements in HKAS 12 to any income tax arising 53R T 7S A WA AT BT 5 B 2 E ) A s e wt
from distributions to equity holders. HEHISE 1258 B E o
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or
indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power or issued
share capital or controls the composition of its board of directors;
or over which the Company has a contractual right to exercise
a dominant influence with respect to that entity’s financial and

operating policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any

impairment losses.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the
Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to

exercise significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
results and reserves of associates is included in the consolidated
income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not
individually tested for impairment. Adjustments are made to

bring into line any dissimilar accounting policy that may exist.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in associates are treated as non-current

assets and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill XA PF Mo v 2

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition EBAEIETIDL RS P AR o B 2 AE T3 DL
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the W H BB A S > 350 A 2 AS 45 1) e
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition B B A W O R P~ AR Bk
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities FZ RS N AR AE > RAREEBT
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and o R WAL 5 e o W ) B AN RE 25 Y AR D o AR
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control EH A > A H B IR A P R IRIR B L
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects B 43 A 2 15 W Oy el ik O A B - B B
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree WeHE T Z e iz (L A B ir A MERE 25
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to IR Tk 45 2 F A A RE R AT A 75 8 10 22 Lo 0 43 4
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation G EGE) o JERMERE Z i A HALE A A
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s SEAE B B o W S A B A A ks B S o

identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are

expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial AR E Y —IE R s RSB
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and AW E B OBA B 28 9 51 3 2 AH B AGAE 0 BEAR 35 &
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic B EREE LA > DIAEHE A JE RS
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. 7~ o S A HE R O 32 A 4 R ik A AT
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host AT H AT o

contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously MEBE I BB AT » WU F B ni A i vk
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value WAL B iy TS R S WAL T ) A S R W B
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. AP HBRBR BN -

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer WAL 7 S 3 R A T R AR B HE R W
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent WA FIEHR - HEAEESRAME (84L&
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial T H) H B s e 5k v B 25 3098 46 B 7 A% 2k 4R
instrument and within the scope of HKAS 39 is measured at AR A FEFHE o AP0 5 B i E 2 e R
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit B e Hof T W A\ S B o sk RIE AT &
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the AR B 3098 A #E B > B F28 5 B 5w
contingent consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is B A T & o B A RE 2R 2 BRI 18
measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent HEMGTE c HEBA BRSSP AR -

consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and

subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,

recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of

units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on
the relative value of the disposed operation and the portion of the

cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the income
statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person:

()

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

(i)

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same

third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation W B R kI

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated W3~ BRI A H0 B B s A
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of T RAE G IR AR - W3 - B B ki 2 AME
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and BIEHEAEBRS>EEERSGESHSHEZ
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working VEAR L S B 2 1 F Hb B AR B E S & -
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred EME- -MELREGEEHERESREEZHE »
after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into 1) T A 45 R AR 25 o 38 R AR R Ak 22 W AR Uk 28
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged FEHIBE o T i e R A > o K B i
to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. VEW T ER s WAGEZIEHE - Y
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the 2~ R M 2 A T e ) g
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying 7 45 18 & 15 55 Be SR A A A B 4 2 AT 0 R
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts ZEREEEATHE > WIS S H T2 o

of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets

with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off WEEHBEGE > WREWE - WE L&k
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its 518 B Z Al 517748 3 B B e A 2 H A
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual o R FEITEERY T

rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under finance leases Over the lease terms RCEFHAIIE T 1 T2
FE L
Buildings 2.5% pg 2.5%
Leasehold improvements, 10% — 33% or over B3 KRR 10%Z33% 3 %M »
furniture and fixtures the lease terms, &R DL A 3 ks Y
whichever is shorter
Motor vehicles 10% — 20% RH 10%%220%
Computer systems 15% — 34% G EY 15% % 34%
Office equipment 10% — 33% N S ] 10%%33%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have M~ B RREEE Z &858 M2 0]
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a 16 AR > I8 B &30 40 A A 32 A P 2 R ngt
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated S EE s TSR AR B P o BRAE -~ WA
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation AF T K HRE B TG B A A 4 B IBUAR BE S8 45 T DA
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each Wat o WAEH TR

financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any W3~ W R TE H A W) 25 i 8 2 AR o T
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal BH IO 7 S Bk TE R 4 Ll B A
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or WA AR R FI] 25 BE A TR 38 o 3 ~ B ik
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised 5 H B 3R R BT A A 2 MBS Bk AR S A Y R
in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is V2 55 A MR T AR 2 R A A4 B
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying s F o

amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant

periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases are charged to the income statement on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially

stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and loans
and receivables, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets

recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS
39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value presented in the income statement. These net fair
value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with

the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial

recognition and only if the criteria under HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to
sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets
due to inactive markets and management’s intent to sell them
in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the Group may
elect to reclassify them. The reclassification from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss to loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity investments
depends on the nature of the assets. This evaluation does not
affect any financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss using the fair value option at designation, as these
instruments cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in other income and gains in the income statement.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the income

statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets A T T 5 4 i ¥

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset A il (S > AR AR E E s A

or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised Bl A AL — ) AE A LA TR

when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; . T o WO B e i < ME AR LB 5 B
or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows o ARHEEHDEGEREERMBETRZHER -
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the B O RERL IR [ B IE | 28k A2 A TR
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third ETFRMB OB ZHERINERE=
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the F2Z R R %M O & & B R BN
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 5 JE\ B S 0] i G > B (b) AN 4 [E) 3 JE ek
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor AR G KRB R K MR (B E
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, S R 2 e RE o

but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows WA 45 18 O e O B s T I A i B 4
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it MEZEANSK O LBREZHE » Hi i 2w R
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards YA 5% G i 2 P A e R B B o] 3t B A B & o] i AR
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor JE o i L SIf S g kAR B % A 2 AR R R L
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor B B ol B e i o A 2 eI RE o HISZ B AR
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the AREFFEBHZEREZBETTURER - RN
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In BWT » REEFHERMHEAEE CEEEE
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The Te AH B B4 5 H e W A 45 [ AR B8 2 RE R e 28 7%
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a Z RS -

basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has

retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over Y 8 22 BN i w0t T O PR AL IEAR > HIDLE
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original e 22 B B T AR DL S A 45 ) AT RE e 18 R 2 I E A
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of BEFZBIKRER & -

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation
and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current

effective interest rate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the income
statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or
has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to administrative expenses in the income
statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not

reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or
loans and borrowings, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities including amounts due to
associates, trade and bills payables, other payables and interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on

their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit

or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the income statement.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the income
statement does not include any interest charged on these financial

liabilities.
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair

value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial

recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount
of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under

the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the

income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair
value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument which
is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and
option pricing models.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis for stocks
of the trading segment and on the weighted average basis for
stocks of the retailing segment and includes all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion, and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to disposal.

Other non-current asset

Other non-current asset represents an unlisted club debenture
which is intended to be held for long term purposes, and is stated
at cost less any impairment loss. The club debenture is tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents BReERBE&SHEA

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, MAEBRERERNS » B kBESFHEEE
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 18 F B B & T 3% W A7 2 B 0 3 % v 9 Bk 4%
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are BoMiZERETHEFERACHBFZH
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an & o LA B KL BA K - B SFRER
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity AR Z BB R R A BB =R o

of generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position, cash and MM ERDEN S » BLERALSFHEER ST
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including B RIBTE L > OiEFEERHEZ M
term deposits, which are not restricted as to use. FK o

Income tax Pt

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax Jor 5 56 4 355 BV 3 8 0 % AR S B JE o BELNME 25 AR
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised e 8 2 TE H A B 2 B A5 B 15 25 R S 2 At
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or 2SR HR AR S T -

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods ASHA K DL B ) 2 B A B e R ALE 0TI
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or PO E e RN R B R E 2 R (&
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) FipE) » WEBALEBEBMABRRXZH A ®
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the T R > 278 1) 15 106 A %5 Ja) Wi el kit S A5
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and MBR2ZEHEE -

practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all 8 S 750 T TP R R e R B R
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between RENEAHRZIEEEZ A48 A
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts fE BV Y F 4l -

for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary Pt G IR R0 2T I e 25 2 35 0l e 5 s R i AR T B

differences, except: 18 > M

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial . X 4] YR b 58— TE RS 55 Wi #% A8 5y W IE s v 2E
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a Az Rk AR RNE
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 7325 W s a8 er vt s A Bk e SR B2
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit B i TR RS R 5 25 2 B I Bl JE B AR R AN 5

nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated . A 8 T e ] g [ R 2 A 2 R R e R
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the 1 2 B R BT FE R 2 1% 2 A AS ] BB 438 o] 2 B
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be J& N ) BLIGE 4% N B) 2 BB 2 E SRR e
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences ZRBRA o

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same

taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition e e i
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic A W A\ B s 4 1B 285 Ak 4% | 25 NP R A S A =
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be B> TR T A A DL #ERD :

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and (a) TSR TR > BEA ME 2 OB & 3R
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, CHEPE Y » AREBREASHEYHEL R
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial HEZEMEYE s PABYHBREZERA
involvement to the degree usually associated with AT {n] B s e i RE

ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective (b) A B WA % R 5t R ) E A & P55
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the B g 2R R A TN 4R T AR
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of W Z st R SR BB E4 S E
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the R SR E 2 A & 5

financial asset;

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive () ME > BRAMEIRME Z M B HEE I
payment has been established; and )53

(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease (d) FHAWCA > $ZFLA AR5 DL IR [ Lo 45t 5 o
terms.

Employee benefits P& B A

Pension scheme B 1R AR [ AT 2

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident AREFEWERBEAESEN » AETHRE

Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under % B IE B 3% 5 # ALk R ] AR 2 B AR RE A

the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those ah#l ([FZer#E]) - BEak I IA BE B 2 3%

employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. ANFi 4 H S EE > MRS 2 B H) A E S

Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ M AR - Zatdl 2 E R AR EE

basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as BRSNS > B S MES A o BT

they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF BRI > BT AN E 8 3 A R ARG

Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from A > AS4E [ 2 AR 3= A SR RE 25 7 Ak a5k e B I 5 S

those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The MEB > W8 B NG REES 28008 3 B BE A

Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees SRR BN o R AS 45 [ w0 Bl % Lk 2 R B R

when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s BE e

employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Pension scheme (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. This
subsidiary is required to contribute 12% of their payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
income statement as they become payable in accordance with the

rules of the central pension scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“‘equity-settled

transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model
or the Black-Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense

recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of

modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of loss per share.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the statement of financial position, until they have been approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation

of monetary items are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the items whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or

loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of an overseas subsidiary and certain
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar.
As at the end of reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their income statements are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the income

statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued) M (%)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation WA i — JE Y A1 2B S A Al 2 T R AT AT IO B
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets B2 & M A E BR A 2 A P B R A i
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and e 2 B M A K DL T A o
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing

rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the BMEAARHEREN S » WINE AR ZB &0
cash flows of an overseas subsidiary are translated into Hong WMIREABRASHRE Y ZBRRE AT - F
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash AN B B N ] A AR R A 2 SRR P B A TR B e N
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the overseas subsidiary ZINRE ST 35 T R A HE T o

which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong

dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. R E A A
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires 2 S A A ) B S R AR B g R i 2 IR
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that HoFH - BERAGEZSHE > UERARAG
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and Z W T BRI - AEEE B o B B E S Bk
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure Bt 2 A ERE RS H B R EY 2
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and L A Pl AR O B

estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities

affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty vt =2 AW 9 #E

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources BT — 6 B AR N 2 A X BB 2 IR (A
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that B R A 2 L o 2 AR 2l e L Al =i AR e B R
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the EHRZ A S 2 AW IR R EERPEH TR T o

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are described below.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment Y PR R W

The Group determines whether an asset is impaired at least on an AEBREDBEEERRELGRBIBE - B2
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of IR 8 A 51 2 B8 B AEAE o A6 518 BB A8 0 »
the asset. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make AREFEMFTEENHPRRBRSRE » IhAE
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the asset and BEASEMIEHE DR ZEHEREN
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the e RA_B—=4FE=H=+—H > KEBZY
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of the Rk N ek 2 W T E %% 88,794,000 T (—
Group’s property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2013 was F— T4 176,822,000 70) ©

HK$88,794,000 (2012: HK$76,822,000).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of investments in associates

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for investments in associates at the end of each
reporting period. Investments in associates are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of investments in associates exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and
its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs to
sell is based on available data from observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the investments. When value
in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected share of future cash flows expected to be generated
by the associates, including the cash flows from the operations
of the associates and the proceeds on the ultimate disposal of
the investments; or the future cash flows expected to arise from
dividends to be received from the investments and from its
ultimate disposal and choose a suitable discount rate in order to

calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating
to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2013 was HK$1,214,000
(2012: HK$4,327,000). The amounts of unrecognised tax losses
for subsidiaries situated in Hong Kong and Mainland China at
31 March 2013 were HK$155,742,000 (2012: HK$94,821,000)
and HK$10,583,000 (2012: Nil), respectively. Further details are
contained in note 26 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #& 3 & M &

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of trade receivables

The Group conducts impairment reviews of financial assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance with
the relevant accounting standards. Determining whether an asset
is impaired requires an estimation of the future cash flows and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, the
Group would be required to revise the basis of making the
allowance and its future results would be affected. As at 31
March 2013, a provision for impairment loss of trade receivables
of HK$3,054,000 (2012: HK$3,054,000) was made and the
carrying amount of trade receivables was HK$22,377,000 (2012:
HK$52,603,000).

Provision for inventories

Management reviews an aging analysis at the end of each
reporting period, and makes provision for obsolete items when
events or change in circumstances show that the balance of
inventories may not be realisable or are no longer suitable for
sale. The Group carries out an inventory review at the end
of each reporting period and makes provision for obsolete
items. The carrying value of inventories at 31 March 2013 was
HK$74,830,000 (2012: HK$168,068,000). Further details of

which are included in note 18 to the financial statements.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has two reportable
operating segments for the year ended 31 March 2013 as follows:

(a) the trading segment is engaged in the trading of frozen

meats, seafood and vegetables; and

(b) the retailing segment is engaged in the retailing of consumer

goods.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment loss, which
is a measure of adjusted loss before tax. The adjusted loss before
tax is measured consistently with the Group’s loss before tax
except that interest income, dividend income and unallocated
gains, gain on deemed acquisition of additional interests in
an associate, fair value gains on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, finance costs, share of profits and losses
of associates and corporate and other unallocated expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group had only one
single operating segment which was the trading of frozen meats,
seafood and vegetables, and the Group’s turnover, representing
sales of goods, and operating results were substantially derived
from the business activities in Hong Kong. Accordingly, no
segment information was presented as only one business report

was reviewed by management to make strategic decisions.

Segment assets exclude tax recoverable and investments in

associates as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities as these

liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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31 March 2013 —2—=f=A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2013

4. BB IER (B)

RE_R === HIEAEE

Trading Retailing Total
®5 24 Mt
HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000
BT T T T
Segment revenue 3 WA 359,627 26,429 386,056
Segment results Vg E¥ (32,747) (12,617) (45,364)
Reconciliation: HHR -
Interest Income A BB A 34
Dividend income and unallocated gains T BB B oA 43 Tl W A 2,016
Gain on deemed acquisition of additional P AR AR I AT 2 A A
interests in an associate A 25 2 W5 496
Fair value gains on financial assets N TEE B E AR
at fair value through profit or loss 4 i R Z A AW RS 18
Finance costs il AR (3,979)
Share of profits and losses of associates R Al Wi 7 2 ] i ) B s 4R 32,874
Corporate and other unallocated expenses O ] B H Al R 43 TG B 52 (6,427)
Loss before tax e Ao T s 15 (20,332)
Segment assets 48 ¥ 155,411 43,817 199,228
Reconciliation: B ¢
Investments in associates R E AR ZE/E 370,465
Corporate and other unallocated assets 2 ) B Fe b R 43 L A 62,225
Total assets % AaE 631,918
Segment liabilities 41 ¥ AL A 217,721 3,721 221,442
Reconciliation: HHR -
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 28 ) B At R 43 S AR 5,260
Total liabilities HEAME 226,702
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Notes to Financial Statements Bf #& $§ 4 Kf =

31 March 2013 =Z—=5=HA=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2013

4. BB ER (4)

BREF-Z4ZA =1 HILEE

Trading Retailing Total
®5% 24 Mt
HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000
BY T W T T W T
Other segment information: oAb 5 WEH -
Write-down of inventories to WORATE & 2
net realisable value W] 5% B (A 2,968 - 2,968
Capital expenditure* jeg N A 199 15,630 15,829
Depreciation i 857 1,208 2,065
Unallocated depreciation & 43 Wi 47 8% 1,984
4,049
Non-current assets** I I B e 17,259 17,136 34,395
Unallocated non-current assets A4 L I B 57,461
91,856
& Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and * AR Y OIEREWE S B %o

equipment.

*#*  Non-current assets exclude investments in associates.
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S. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net
invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and

5. WA > JEABWOA B Wt

WABIASREE 2 B30 B RBE RS
AR B A Z B A o O~ HA A K

trade discounts. An analysis of revenue, other income and gains Wz AT
is as follows:
Group
#H
2013 2012
TR -4 xR T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o W o
Revenue WA 386,056 711,865
Other income oAb B A
Bank interest income AT R B A 34 100
Commission income 4 WA - 320
Claims received S A N 192 202
Dividend income from financial TN PEE MRS AR
assets at fair value through 1 4 il A B 2 I B IR
profit or loss 693 205
Gross rental income AL WA 698 923
Sundry income HETE WA 2 8
1,619 1,758
Gains W2k
Foreign exchange differences, net [ 5622 5 > 354 -
Gain on disposal of items of HEWE - ME LS HEH
property, plant and equipment Z Wz 110 -
Gain on disposal of financial assets B #&A FHEB BB AR
at fair value through profit or loss & Rl E 2 WA 1,323 1,194
Gain on deemed acquisition of B ARLAE i A TB 8 O ) B AP RE £
additional interests in an associate & 496 28
2,283 1,222
3,902 2,980
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. Bl A
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: G RARZ S HIF
Group
#EH
2013 2012
R4 R T
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT o o
Interest on bank and trust receipt TR AN A R R
loans wholly repayable within Z AT B AR RE WO
one year B B 3,979 3,088
—E-=HFH 83
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt 7 3k &

31 March 2013 —2—=5=A=+—8

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

B &

7. BB i i i

AEEZBHEEHTME S GEA)

(crediting):
Group
ey
2013 2012
e St e St ot
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
At it W T W T T
Cost of inventories sold CERFRZ A 390,711 715,722
Depreciation e 14 4,049 2,851
Rental expenses under operating el R M AR AR
leases in respect of land Z R4
and buildings:
Minimum lease payments T AR A 5 FlL 4 27,668 30,484
Contingent rents BOAR A 4 841 -
28,509 30,484
Auditors’ remuneration A% B T 4 883 715
Employee benefit expense fié & 4 F BA 32
(including directors’ remuneration (35 % 4
(note 8)): (Hf7Es))
Wages, salaries, allowances and T%) -~ HFH4 - #ah
benefits in kind L L 46 A 20,358 17,070
Pension scheme contributions PR N 1 P 1 1,547 995
21,905 18,065
Foreign exchange differences, net [ 5622 5L > (354) 338
Net rental income el T (524) (524)
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial 3%/ 165 # 18 25 A IR
assets at fair value through A < i B 2 8 F
profit or loss fAEHE () (18) 5,044
Impairment of trade receivables JE W B 5 B ik kAL 19 - 3,129
Write-down of inventories to WO AT B 2 W) 5 B
net realisable value* 2,968 10,116
Gain on deemed acquisition of AR AR B B A A
additional interests HAME #5 Z W asn
in an associate” 16 (496) (28)
¥ The write-down of inventories to net realisable value is included in * oA £ 2T S BUFHE C AR AR A AR R 8

“Cost of sales” in the consolidated income statement.
& The gain on deemed acquisition of additional interests in

an associate is included in “Other income and gains” in the
consolidated income statement.

ANNUAL REPORT 2013

BRAIN -

A BRI AT A R UM S 2 MRt O LR
AR R [ AL A R 3 A e



EREERREEZRARAA

Notes to Financial Statements Bt #& 3 & M &

31 March 2013 —2—=f=A=+—H

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during
the year were as follows:

(a) BFEHfrES

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. MM &
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the AR N T A e i R B R A R SR 161
Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies PEAEtm T P& :
Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
H£H
2013 2012
R =4 R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T - o T
Fees 4 565 600
Other emoluments: oAb 4 -
Salaries, allowances and e I REY
benefits in kind F £ 5,019 5,463
Pension scheme contributions PEYY o e ¢ 221 245
5,240 5,708
5,805 6,308

FHNCHRTELERTERZAENT

2013 2012

g SN 5 o Sy o

HK$°000 HK$°000

BT B o

CHAN Kay Cheung BRA B 60 60
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [ Y] 60 60
LUI Shing Ming, Brian Gt 60 60
180 180

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2012: Nil).

A I S LA I B A T R L R BT

(ZF 24 ) -

“E-ZFFR
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Notes to Financial Statements Bf #& $§ 4 Kf =

31 March 2013 —2—=5=A=+—8

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

8. HENFIN 4 (&)

(continued)
(b) Executive directors (b) BATER
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
Wi 4 > HEWh BAK &5 #
Mg BB A 4 Z sk E ALk NS
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T BT
2013 e S
Executive directors: PATESR .
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen Hm 120 2,880 12 3,012
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis K 60 1,230 124 1,414
TAI Chun Leung ol R 25 271 15 311
YIP Wai Keung B {5 R 60 = 3 63
TSE Siu Wan A E 60 = 3 63
LAI Yuk Chuen BE R 60 638 64 762
385 5,019 221 5,625
2012 B
Executive directors: HATHES
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen e 120 2,880 12 3,012
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis K 60 1,230 124 1,414
TAI Chun Leung W R 60 715 39 814
YIP Wai Keung YEf TR 60 = 63
TSE Siu Wan A E 60 = 63
LAI Yuk Chuen BER 60 638 64 762
420 5,463 245 6,128

There was no arrangement under which a director waived

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2012:

Nil).
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31 March 2013 —2—=f=A=+—H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. oA 5 1 Jge = D L
The five highest paid employees during the year included three EN HAFHHREBREESFE = MESRE (F
directors (2012: four directors), details of whose remuneration — TAE UL > A E &R b
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the 58 o WAAAE B H R AL (B — 4+ —1fr)
remaining two (2012: one) non-director, highest paid employees JEERE LG RIEE ZMEEEWT

for the year are as follows:

Group
£y |
2013 2012
e St e St
HK$’000 HK$°000
T BT T
Salaries, allowances and benefits Wi~ R E A AR
in kind 1,169 703
Pension scheme contributions B ARl 2 Atk 86 35
1,255 738
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose EEERFE EIEB M AL T 5 4728
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows: H :
Number of employees
e B\ %
2013 2012
ot B - —2——fF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 F WL 31,000,000 70 2 1

—EB-=EEH 87
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10. INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2012: Nil). No provision for Mainland
China corporate income tax has been made as the Group did not

generate any assessable profits in Mainland China during the year

10. i 138

Fh P A 5 0 7 A4 B 1 SN S A o R 1 7 98 2
Z MERA A > PRI 0 N SR 7 o ) 45 B AR Y
i (ST — 24 ) o HRARBER ARG N
S S8 AT £ 9 9 v K B A 2 ME R B A o PRI
1k 3 4 A e B O e A 3 T A AR B (2%

(2012: Nil). — A ) o
Group
#M
2013 2012
TR A —E T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Deferred tax (note 26) and total tax  ¥EMEFLIE (M 7E26) T ANAE &

charge for the year Z BRI 57 3,288 292

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before
tax at the statutory rate for the country/jurisdiction in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to

the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of

AR A A v B e B A vl BT AE B R
WA I 2 s S B AR B LI RS R A i A
Z B IE S B DL B B Rt B 2 B I S
MR > DA R FBE AR (B ks i) BT Bl R 2

the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax HEWMT
rate, are as follows:
Group
e
2013 2012
e St e St
HK$’000 % HKS$’000 %
BY T BT T
Loss before tax B A B s 47 (20,332) (36,891)
Tax at applicable tax rates T30 B G
Z BiIH (4,274) 21.0 (6,087) 16.5
Profits and losses attributable T8 2 ) IR A % 7
to associates K18 (5,424) 26.7 (2,559) 6.9
Income not subject to tax WARBZ WA (123) 0.6 (50) 0.1
Expenses not deductible for tax A A A X 0 TR
Z 3l 399 (2.0) 46 (0.1
Tax losses utilised from previous BB AEHZ
periods B IE s 48 (114) 0.6 (22) 0.1
Tax losses not recognised AR 3R 2 ol TE s 4R 12,812 (63.0) 8,944 (24.2)
Others 3ot 12 (0.1 20 (0.1)
Tax charge at the Group’ s FA A B BB R
effective rate 32 2 BLIE 3,288 (16.2) 292 (0.8)

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
HK$9,952,000 (2012: HK$7,003,000) is included in “Share

of profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated income

Statement.
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11. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 11. 7 2 vi) B 2 i A7 % A s 41
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of the BRE_FZ-=H=HA=Z+—HILEEZARAT
Company for the year ended 31 March 2013 includes a profit of RESS A B A 47 A R H B 51,0008 (ZF
HK$1,000 (2012: HK$133,000) which has been dealt with in the — 4 1 133,000 70) Z#i A 0 DR ARAE Z
financial statements of the Company (note 29(b)). % i R B (M EE29()) o
12. DIVIDENDS 12. B &
2013 2012
R =4 R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o BT T
Interim — Nil w3 — fie
(2012: HK1.0 cent per SRR
ordinary share) A B 1.0 Al) - 2,596
Proposed final — Nil JeE e R Y — e
(2012: HK1.0 cent per SR -TF B
ordinary share) T3 B 1.0%Al) - 2,596
- 5,192
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in FHREAERIRBEREBEZIRR -

respect of the year.

13

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13, AR 2\ ) 3% %0 HE 23 7 A5 4 MEAG 45 Ik
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF s 1
THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is based on S VN TECDLR S P NG N R R
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the i T A 5 AN K 1823,620,000% 8 (ZF —
Company of HK$23,620,000 (2012: HK$37,183,000), and on the 4F £ 37,183,000% 78) - K AR N BT A K
259,586,000 (2012: 259,586,000) ordinary shares in issue during 259,586,000/ (=& — 4F : 259,586,000 ) &l
the year. B/

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amounts HRERRE _F-=FK_F-_4=H
presented for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 in respect =E+—H IR E R RS ) 2 BT
of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary W38 i > R Iht ST S0 sf 4 7 = T SR AR P B
shares in issue during those years. Bl Z 43 B 5L 7 i 1R AR H R % o

—B=EEH 89
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to Financial Statements Bf #& $§ 4 Kf =

31 March 2013 —2—=5=A=+—8

14. Yy 3& ~ W 55 B it M

Group £ M
Leasehold
Land improvements,
and furniture Motor Computer Office
buildings  and fixtures vehicles systems equipment Total
ARy
B 5H
ARV S5 REHE L EWRE  WARSH it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
#WTL  EWTL  B¥TC  B¥Tc #FTx EWTX
31 March 2013 e SV
At 31 March 2012 and REF-ZEZA=Z+—H
at 1 April 2012: B_Z—_#NA—H:
Cost A 102,205 3,336 9,646 3,122 1,068 119,377
Accumulated depreciation Bt U8 R A
and impairment (28,943) (3,312) (6,363) (2,961) 976) (42,555)
Net carrying amount e T R £ 73,262 24 3,283 161 92 76,822
At 1 April 2012, net of RZF—-ZHNA—H
accumulated depreciation T B 2l
and impairment 73,262 24 3,283 161 92 76,822
Additions RE - 13,918 472 956 483 15,829
Depreciation provided EN T
during the year (2,088) (1,092) (641) (157) (71) (4,049)
Exchange realignment E . = 170 6 11 5 192
At 31 March 2013, net of RZF-ZHZA=1+—H>
accumulated depreciation R HER- Y
and impairment 71,174 13,020 3,120 971 509 88,794
At 31 March 2013: R-F-=ZH=H=Z+—H:
Cost BA 102,205 17,439 9,760 4,090 1,556 135,050
Accumulated depreciation R R
and impairment (31,031) (4,419) (6,640) (3,119) (1,047) (46,256)
Net carrying amount R T ¢ £ 71,174 13,020 3,120 971 509 88,794
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y9 3 ~ BB B s Ml (A7)

(continued)
Group HH
Leasehold
Land  improvements,
and furniture Motor Computer Office
buildings  and fixtures vehicles systems equipment Total
HEHT
K - K
ERLYT £ &R HH BWAE  MAZRMH st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
T EETT BN TL BWTIL BWTL e
31 March 2012 R -THEZEAZ4—H
At 1 April 2011: RER——FENA—H
Cost JA 102,205 3317 9,646 3,027 982 119,177
Accumulated depreciation Rt E R
and impairment (26,858) (3,303) (5,703) (2,882) (958) (39,704)
Net carrying amount R ¢ £ 75,347 14 3,943 145 24 79,473
At 1 April 2011, net of RZF——HNA—H
accumulated depreciation T B 2l
and impairment 75,347 14 3,943 145 24 79,473
Additions wE - 19 - 95 86 200
Depreciation provided N
during the year (2,085) ) (660) (79) (18) (2,851)
At31 March 2012, netof ~ R-F-"HEZA=ZF—H >
accumulated depreciation T B 2t
and impairment 73,262 24 3,283 161 92 76,822
At 31 March 2012: R-F-"H#=A=+—H:
Cost A 102,205 3,336 9,646 3,122 1,068 119,377
Accumulated depreciation R R
and impairment (28,943) (3,312) (6,363) (2,961) (976) (42,555)
Net carrying amount I i ¢ £ 73,262 24 3,283 161 92 76,822
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The Group’s land included in property, plant and equipment are

situated in Hong Kong and are held under the following lease

terms:

14. Y9 3 ~ BB B s Ml (A7)

AL B G AW BB B il 2 b e AR A

W o MR BIRLA A -

Net carrying amount

i TTRE <
2013 2012
—R =4 T Sy
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT oo
Long term leases 9,460 9,475
Medium term leases 18,888 19,444
28,348 28,919
15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15. A BB A 6l 2 8 &
Company
A |
2013 2012
g X SRR
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o T o
Unlisted shares, at cost I b B > R R AE 39,004 39,004
Loans to subsidiaries BT MEAF Z Bk 168,520 161,568
207,524 200,572
Impairment” (9,049) (9,049)
198,475 191,523

W An impairment of HK$9,049,000 has been recognised for an
unlisted investment with a carrying amount of HK$12,049,000
(before deducting the impairment loss) (2012: HK$12,049,000)
because the carrying amount of the investment in the subsidiary
exceeded its recoverable amount as estimated by the directors.
There was no change in the impairment account during the current

and prior years.
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

15. 7 B i 2 ) 2 B ¥ ()

AR 2% B I B A A T ) AR R R M % R
5% B JE§ 2 7] 3K JE 4 B 5 468,000% 00 (T —
4F 1 445,000 78) 31,108,000 6 (= F——
4 2 21,560,000 C) > ¥y 2% JEALHH - B KA
B RIIRIK o

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in
the Company’s current assets and current liabilities of
HK$468,000 (2012: HK$445,000) and HK$31,108,000 (2012:
HK$21,560,000), respectively, are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The loans to subsidiaries included in investments in subsidiaries A EmA B AR ZZRENRTHEARZ

Ry > WS R R A T PR 2 ) 2 S AL

above are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment. In the opinion of the directors, these advances are

considered as quasi-equity loans to the subsidiaries. 25 B o
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: A REME AT ZFFEWT

Percentage of

Place of Nominal value of equity attributable
registration and issued ordinary to the Company
Name operations share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
A 2w AN
O AT B L - yipidi A
# 1% X B A L JBe 7% Wi fFL HiE A & B %01
Capital Season Investments British Virgin USS$1 - 100 Investment holding
Limited Islands/ 13870 ELS2gLd)d
Hong Kong
e ) A el
iR
Hung King Development Hong Kong HK$400,000 - 100 Property holding
Limited ERE 400,000% 7C e S EC]
WRBRARAT
William Food Company Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 - Trading of frozen
Limited ik 10,000,000 7T meats, seafood and
Rl A A E vegetables
R AR W
HKHE G
JEE M Y 7 A R e R People’ s Republic HK$20,000,000 = 100 Retailing of
A R 2 7 A of China (“PRC”)/ 20,000,000% 7T consumer
Mainland China goods
g A R Ao i FHENIEE
(Mo i 1) o oK e
*  Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm * o W IR A U2 K B L R S BT B Ak A BR A A

of the Ernst & Young global network. Fo Al B 4y W] F % o

% VY 4 ) 7 42 v IR 3 A RE A A A AP R AR
3k -

2 This subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise A
under PRC law.

b3 5 5 s S TR AR P A RS A M
T E A Z M AT o HER R RS
Al P Jg 2 ) 7 B 5 W A A OC R o

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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16. 7 W6 % 2 vl Z B %

Group
£y |
2013 2012
e St o —EF -5
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T BT T
Share of net assets JFEAL & 7 F A 358,101 326,474
Goodwill on acquisition W i 8 A 2 T 12,364 12,364
370,465 338,838
Market value of listed shares b ey =2 T A 299,593 235,065
Goodwill
Lk
HK$’000
Ve di
Cost and carrying amount W_F——HFNH—H - ZF-_F=ZH=1+—H-
at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012, R -CHENAHERZREZHAZA=Z1H
1 April 2012 and 31 March 2013 Z AR B H% T 12,364

The amounts due from associates included in the Group’s current
assets were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The amounts due to an associate included in the Group’s current
liabilities are unsecured, interest-free and repayable under normal

trading terms.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, Four Seas Mercantile
Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”) re-purchased and cancelled certain
of its ordinary shares. As a result, the Group’s investments in
FSMHL increased by 0.2046% (2012: 0.0082%), and the Group
recognised a gain on deemed acquisition of additional interests
in an associate of HK$496,000 (2012: HK$28,000) in the

consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March 2013.
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

16. JA B 2 v 2 B ¥ (4)

(continued)
Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: ZEREHE AR FHENT ¢
Percentage
of ownership
Place of interest
Particulars of incorporation/ attributable
Name issued shares held registration to the Group Principal activities
EL SR Ry CR LR 7 4 18 JE A
# 18 JBe By 2 ¥ N % id o L E-¥ipid A EX S 3 7
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Ordinary shares Cayman Islands 29.70 Investment holding
Limited of HK$0.10 each BH & 7 BeF B
VU Y 4 B A B A I i
0.103% 7T Z ¥ 8 i
Fancy Talent Limited* Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.70 Marketing of
FEWEAR MR A+ of HK$1 each s snack foods
i JBe T INEEZ T 5
1870 2 % 8 K
Four Seas Mercantile Limited (i) Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.70 Trading in
VI B 5 A BR A of HK$100 each Hi snack foods,
(i1) Non-voting confectionery
deferred shares and beverages
of HK$100 each INEE R
(i) B fi T A i H 5
1003 7T Z ¥ 8 B
(i) B JBe THI L 100 7T Z
JHE 45 2% R 0 B B
Four Seas Foods (Shantou) Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.70 Trading in
Co., Ltd.* of HK$96,000,000 Mainland China confectionery and
VU PN £ i il ) AR A ] 3R AR LT PN food products
96,000,000% & BEREBEMZE S
Four Seas (Suzhou) Food Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.70 Manufacturing
Co., Ltd. * of US$16,500,000 Mainland China of beverages
PO Y (RN ) b AR ] (2012: Sl il PN AR i B
US$11,000,000)
O 4R B A
16,500,0003& 7¢
(g
11,000,0003% 7 )
Guang Dong Fourseas Frozen Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.70 Trading in frozen
Food Products Co., Ltd.* of RMB20,300,000 Mainland China food products
JBE S O U 4 SR L A PR A ] (2012: T il DN 7 and snack foods
RMB10,300,000) R YR i &
C 4 e A INEZH G
A R#20,300,0005¢
(ZF— 4
A B 10,300,0007C)
Hong Kong Biscuit Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.49 Investment holding
(International) Limited* of HK$1 each i ES2ELY s
O es (1 B) A B2 B Ji i H
18 2 ¥ i ik
—B-=EFH 95




HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

96

Notes to Financial Statements Bf #& $§ 4 Kf =

31 March 2013 —2—=5=A=+—8

16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: (continued)

16. JA B 2 v 2 B ¥ (4)

FERBE AR FEOT (8

Percentage
of ownership
Place of interest
Particulars of incorporation/ attributable
Name issued shares held registration to the Group Principal activities
R O sl 8 7 4 18 JE A
# 18 JBe By 2 ¥ N % id o L E-¥ipid A EX S 3 7
Hong Kong Ham Holdings Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.70 Manufacturing and
Limited of HK$10 each EoE: packaging of ham
T ¥ K B W IR AT B A W) A B THi A and ham-related
10¥ T Z % 48 products
B T A % K R
IR K BB 58 b
J.P. Inglis Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.70 Trading in
KR LHETHERAA of HK$10 each EoR food materials
i I i B B ER 5
103 78 Z 3 78 Jit
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.40 Restaurant
Vegetarian Cuisine Limited of HK$1 each EE: operations
sk LR R A RAH i JBe THI H BRERE
1T 2 T i
Li Fook (Qingdao) Foods Co., Ltd.* Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.70 Manufacturing
A (5 5) B A RA A of US$3,970,000 Mainland China of noodles
(2012: Sl T PN Jil £ L%
US$3,320,000)
C 4R e A
3,970,0003 7t
TR TR
3,320,0003 7C )
New Kondo Trading Company Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.70 Trading in
Limited of HK$1 each HH Japanese food
I 5 A A FE B B THI A materials
170 2 ¥ 8 B HACf b JEOR R 5
R A RE 5 R A+ Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.70 Trading in
of RMB500,000 Mainland China confectionery
402 AR g o gk B and food products
A B #500,00078 BREEMZHS
SE DO N P 2 S A PR Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.70 Manufacturing and
of HK$37,000,000 Mainland China packaging of ham
4002 I A L PN and ham-related
37,000,0003% JG products
B T A e K B
A T KBRS
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
(continued)

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: (continued)

31 March 2013 —2—=f=A=+—H

16. JA B 2 v 2 B ¥ (4)

FERBE AR FEOT (8

Percentage
of ownership
Place of interest
Particulars of incorporation/ attributable
Name issued shares held registration to the Group Principal activities
e Wk s S, 7 415 [l M A
%W JBe By Z Wk A Xl i L E-¥ipid’a TR
JBE N T PR AR A B A ] Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.40 Restaurant operations
of RMB73,959,210 Mainland China BERE
O 4R B A Sl il PN
A R¥:73,959,2107G
W BLER & U SR A ) Paid-up capital PRC/ 19.80 Poultry business
of HK$8,000,000 Mainland China EX-E
O 4R B A o Ok B
8,000,000% G

& Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length. All

associates were indirectly held by the Company.

€ B SS  TE R Se e
FoAb il 5 A R A o

3 B 5 R R TR 4R T A R S A M
P i R B A Z W A ] o SRR A S
A Wi 85 23 ] 7 0 0 W R A O o BT A B A
Al A A B R A -

The following table illustrates the summarised financial FREF) B ARE S AR ZMBEREReEZ
information of the Group’s associates extracted from their WE AR -
financial statements:
2013 2012
TR =4 R T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o BT T
Assets & 2,465,385 2,425,843
Liabilities =K 1,236,643 1,290,006
Revenues KA 2,899,647 2,789,334
Profit it 1] 110,779 52,581
OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSET 17. b JE 35 ) %

The club debenture represents an entrance fee paid for the use of

club facilities and is held on a long term basis.

o F (8 20 4 B P 01 BT R SC AP 2 A B > i
R AR
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The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally one to three
months. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances. Trade receivables are non-

interest-bearing.
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18. INVENTORIES 18. 1+ 1%
Group
Y0 |
2013 2012
- SN R TR
HK$°000 HKS$°000
BT o BT o
Finished goods SR 74,830 168,068
19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. HE e BT 5 ik 7%
Group
Y0 |
2013 2012
g SN 5 o Sy o
HKS$’000 HK$°000
T o T T
Trade receivables HE W B 5 Bk 25,431 55,657
Impairment W AE (3,054) (3,054)
22,377 52,603

AEEEEFZHARMUE RS T WH%E
B el EHE A K o fE R — 2=
H oo B % P A G BB o ARG M J) Kk
A% ) L 1 R WA = B AR L o T I £ B L
B e 2 0 K = e AR B o S 01 A O ) A
B o B LA R > DA S ACSR M W B 5 R
KR L Z e AL % A B > B b S KA
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. MW B 5 k% (1)
An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the R HIR - MR RS B R BRI 2
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of impairment W G IR IRE S

provisions, is as follows:

Group
HH
2013 2012
—R =4 xR T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT 0T
Within 1 month MEHA A 9,841 37,194
1 to 2 months 12218 H 11,486 13,502
Over 2 months 2ME A YA L 1,050 1,907
22,377 52,603
The movements in the provision for impairment of trade FEWCHE Z MRk 2 WA Z B RS R -
receivables are as follows:
Group
£ M
2013 2012
R =4 R
HKS$’000 HK$’000
0T o BT o
At 1 April WA —H 3,054 =
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) T.HE 58 A8 &5 18 (M 7£7) - 3,129
Amount written off as uncollectible 5 4 Ji ¥ U ] = fig & 7k T8 - (75)
At 31 March W=A=+—H 3,054 3,054
Included in the above provision for impairment of trade b R W B W sk 2 A A D 5 R T R
receivables was a provision for individually impaired trade #53,054,0009 76 (= ZF— Z4F ¢ 3,054,000 7T)
receivables of HK$3,054,000 (2012: HK$3,054,000) with a 2 A 3 JRE Wi B2 5 W R A HE Dk L B8 445 3,054,000 9
carrying amount before provision of HK$3,054,000 (2012: JG (R — 4 £ 3,054,000 70) o i 51 C 9k i
HK$3,054,000). The individually impaired trade receivables Z W B B B sk 7 B g T B W sl RO R 2 %
relate to customers that were in financial difficulties or were A B s A5 R AR 2 A R o

in default in payment and the balances were not expected to be

recovered.
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered

to be impaired is as follows:

19. JE W B 5 Wk (7))
WA RWEZEWE BRSO WT :

Group
£ |

2013 2012
ZR =4 e St 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T BT T
Neither past due nor impaired 7 486 7 241 i 4B 21,320 50,943
Less than 1 month past due L A 1| A 871 724
1 to 2 months past due 761 2241 A 62 936
Over 2 months past due g ipX G DENY S 124 =
22,377 52,603

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a

large number of diversified customers for whom there was no

recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a

number of independent customers that have a good track record

with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the

Company are of the opinion that no provision for impairment

is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been

a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still

considered fully recoverable.
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 20. THAS KB~ w6 4 e 0 fib M ek
OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group Company
e A
2013 2012 2013 2012
e St o —F - e S o —EF -5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT W T o T T BT T
Prepayments FEAT 3K IE 2,991 514 124 123
Deposits and other receivables 7 4 & H Ath
JFE Wik I 5,590 1,109 3 6
8,581 1,623 127 129
Less: Portion classified W A
as non-current I B B Ay (2,522) - - -
6,059 1,623 127 129
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The e ¥ R NI A G B A o B AN AR G A
financial assets included in the above balances relate to BB T R A R ek BB WK IE o
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21. 5 2 P 38 38 4 2 A S Y 4
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS E
Group
e
2013 2012
e St e St
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Listed equity investments, LR R
at market value: Hong Kong W 178 15,118
The above equity investments at 31 March 2012 and 2013 were bR R R R EFAEA =+ —H
classified as held for trading. ZHERMBEH B RFEEE -
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22.

23.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2.8 & RBE&FMHHEH
Group Company
£ V|

2012 2013 2012
R4 it St —R—=4p e St
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT 7B W or
Cash and bank balances Be R RATHRE 60,884 40,106 3,155 255
Time deposits & A7 K 23,854 - =
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEESFMEEA 65,884 63,960 3,155 255

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
HK$8,909,000 (2012: Nil). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks

authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and fourteen days depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

R EREBIR > AREE LR (AR 5
Z B4 JBRAT K5 47 $58,909,0009 00 (ZF —
M) o ARWEAA A d i - M
5 R I8 A e A o A B M50 P 65 > G A
A B A > A A e 7 08 M R T AT A BE
ShH T Z RAT M ON RO S A% T F A B o

SRAT B S ¥R A5 H SRAT A2 5K A % DL B A1) 5% e R
B - FMEBAER TN P~ HETNHZ
S [6) ST A o T A AR I B R B oK
3 35 SR A B 2 09 A 1A k) R R B, o R
AT R A T3 A I A ) 3 40 02 A4 R ey LA R A AR
BZHAT -

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 23, MEA B 5 Rk B 9%

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of TR A A > ARRBE ST H B A B 50 MRk
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HBZIRB DT
Group

e 3|
2013 2012
e St o D~
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T BT T
Within 1 month i H A 23,367 25,245
1 to 2 months 1ZE216 H 5,537 1,628
28,904 26,873

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on terms of 30 to 60 days.
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24, b HE A 5k D B ME 5 £ 4%
Group Company
£y | AT
2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT BT 7B W or
Other payables HAth W A 35K JH 9,541 9,701 3,450 =
Accruals FE st A 2,513 2,921 - 530
12,054 12,622 3,450 530
Less: Portion classified oA P U/ i

as non-current (897) - - —
11,157 12,622 3,450 530
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term HAGEAFE T8 > S FH A=A -

of three months.

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 25. AT A B 2 8447 Sk
BORROWINGS
2013 2012
e St TR T4
Effective Effective
interest interest
Group rate  Maturity HK$’000 rate Maturity HK$’000
£ L YRS #AWME  BEFTL HEEMNX AWE  EFFI
Current gl
Short term loan JHE G 1 R0 K 2.24% 1-3 months 153,500 1.98% 1-3 months 80,000
— unsecured 1-3fd A 1-31 A
Trust receipt loans I HE A5 5 1.95% 3 months 30,286 1.68% 1-4 months 175,292
— unsecured Wi B Bk 3 A 1-4f8 A
183,786 255,292
All short term loan and trust receipt loans are denominated in A S SR RETWIEER L ICEHE s &
Hong Kong dollars, bear interest at floating interest rates and are FEIR AR > WH R A NER o

repayable within one year.
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26. DEFERRED TAX

104

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the

year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

Group - 2013

26. EHEBLIH

Y #iE B8 95 £ K
HH - —F =4

Losses available

PERIEEBIHA R EREZ BT

Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
Wi SN 3R
T 28 8 2 JE R i ik A
Uit 685 2 M 4 Mt
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT YT BHTI
At 1 April 2012 WA —H (2,025) 575 (1,450)
Deferred tax charged AAE JE A W 3 7 9 0 B
to the income statement Z BB (M 7E10)
during the year (note 10) (202) (125) (327)
At 31 March 2013 W_FZ—=#=H=+—H (2,227) 450 1,777)
Deferred tax assets Y& 9t BE I A
Group - 2013 B - R4
Losses available
Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
W J DA BN 3R
T 28 B2 M SR B ik A
EiN 685 2 N 4 it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T BT T
At 1 April 2012 WA H—H (791) 3,752 2,961
Deferred tax credited/ AAE R R RN EEA
(charged) to the income ($nbg) Z EEFLIE (K 7E10)
statement during the year
(note 10) 27 (2,988) (2,961)
At 31 March 2013 HRoF-=F£=ZH=1+—H (764) 764 -
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26. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

Group — 2012

EREERREEZRARAA

Notes to Financial Statements Bt #& 3 & M &

31 March 2013 —2—=f=A=+—H

26. 3 #EBL I (4)
Y 4 LI 11
o — =% —

Losses available

Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
A FH DA Bl AR
o 728 7t I JRE SRt i A
e i e o At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
At 1 April 2011 W_F——FNH—H (1,898) 740 (1,158)
Deferred tax charged AAE B A 2 2% 9 0 B
to the income statement Z BRI (M #E10)
during the year (note 10) (127) (165) (292)
At 31 March 2012 RoFR-ZHE=A=Z+—H (2,025) 575 (1,450)
Deferred tax assets W %t B % e
Group — 2012 HH - —F T4
Losses available
Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
A DA BEI AR
i 728 At T JRE SR B i
g 8 2 i 18 o
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
3 BT o BT
At 1 April 2011 W_F——4FWNH—H (818) 3,779 2,961
Deferred tax credited/ AR PR RN FA
(charged) to the income (fBR) Z IEREBLIE (M 7E10)
statement during the year
(note 10) 27 27) -
At 31 March 2012 BRoE-HF=A=+—H (791) 3,752 2,961
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26. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$163,099,000 (2012:
HK$121,050,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of tax losses of approximately HK$155,742,000 (2012:
HK$94,821,000) as, in the opinion of the directors, it is uncertain
whether sufficient future taxable profits will be available against

which the tax losses can be utilised.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$10,583,000 (2012: Nil) that will expire in five years for
offsetting against future taxable profit. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen
in a subsidiary with uncertain future operating profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2012: Nil) for taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s

subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by the
subsidiary established in Mainland China in respect of earnings

generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2013, no deferred income tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of a subsidiary
and associates established in Mainland China. In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that the subsidiary and these
associates will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.
The share of the aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in the subsidiary and these associates
in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totalled approximately HK$13,509,000 at 31
March 2013 (2012: HK$11,254,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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26. 3 %t B (7))

PR BIR - AREEF B W E A ZBEE R
#1163,099,000% 7¢ (=& — 4 : 121,050,000
W6 WA R R AR 3 S B e Z A
2% 2R ME SR BB o & BA155,742,000% I8
(ZF—4F £ 94,821,000 76 ) Z B 1E 5 15 i
JUE T 2 2 R A R JE > T H R T R R R
THE R R 5 2 400 W AR R G 1 ) T L K A
1R -

A S5 [ 7% A v IR K e A B JE RS 810,583,000
WOt (ZF— 24 E) > WS TAERBIH
A PEACEY H % R A o R BB I S 4R
A& 18— ] AR 2 468 v A G AN W B 2 B A
OO A A O T R T o

AR [ 2 O A ) 7 i o B0 R S R R e
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27.SHARE CAPITAL 27. JBe AR
Shares 1By
2013 2012
—R—E4E SR
HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT T o
Authorised: Vg ¢
400,000,000 ordinary shares 400,000,000 8 4 1Bt T 1A
of HK$0.10 each 0.10% 7T Z % 78 it 40,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: CEBAT R
259,586,000 ordinary shares 259,586,000/ 45: JB i {&
of HK$0.10 each 0.10% J0 Z % 48 it 25,959 25,959
Share options T JB%
Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included in AN ) 2 0 B S A SR B O R P R 28 o

note 28 to the financial statements.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the scheme include the Company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees
of the Company, and any executive director or employee of any
of the Company’s subsidiaries and any entity in which the Group

holds any equity interest.

On 28 August 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) to replace the share option scheme which was
commenced on 17 September 2002 and was terminated on 28
August 2012 (the “Terminated Scheme”). The Scheme is valid
and effective for a period of 10 years up to 27 August 2022,
after which no further share options will be granted but the
provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in
all other respects. Share options complying with the provisions
of the Listing Rules which are granted during the duration of
the Scheme and those remain unexercised immediately prior to
the end of the 10-year period shall continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of grant as within the share option
period for which such share options are granted, notwithstanding
the expiry of the Scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 25,958,600 ordinary shares,
being 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on 28 August
2012. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 25,958,600 ordinary
shares, representing 10% of the existing issued share capital of
the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 28. Jik Jbe B w3 (%)

Share options granted to a director or substantial shareholder of BT ARNFEF - TR AR 2 A ]
the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to approval AN Z BB > ZE SR U AR 2 B S JE AT
in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the O AL (FE ) 2 42 3 W B RE 2 S AT
Company (excluding an independent non-executive director who HREAFEAEN) o LA > R A8 H B
is a grantee of the share options). In addition, any share options [ P 3% 7 A A W\l 2 32 B B R s B or JE AT E
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non- 3> ol S AT T B N 2 AT o S R AR A
executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates, ARy w] AT IRE ) 2 T AT e 2.0.19% S FL 48
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any {8 (3242 S M 8 | =2 IR W T A 1 550 ) A
time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the FH EWIGE > QA BB R R RS R
Company’s shares at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5 WAL HE o

million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 2 H P e R R o B 2 )
days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the duplicate offer EFEF N H B » AR\ TR 2 B b S AE
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the O350 8 952 M I R A ek M W AR » R R
grantee with the number of shares in respect of which the offer B F A R B > LR A SR e 2 R
is accepted clearly stated therein, together with payment of a T A > MENE R RE 2 Bk o % A AE TE I R RE ST
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company 1 Jer 3 i A b HAR SR AN o PR Z TR 2
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the R B AR A P 2 T 8 B I DL e B - A BRI GK
expiry of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated. T A A £ 355 AHLAS BRI G BB 47 o 0 5 i) i e
The terms and conditions of the share options granted are ZATAEH > SRR S 8 28 7 IR 2 Hh H AR
determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis. Such AR 5 (i) W IR RE IR LR R 2 A AT AE (J
terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to (i) the F) 5 K(v)RELH B > 2 B35 4715 1 5 BE T
subscription price; (ii) the period within which the Company’s HERZRBAE(WMA) -

shares must be taken up under the share option, which must not
be more than 10 years from the offer date; (iii) the minimum
period, if any, for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised; and (iv) the performance target, if any, that must be
achieved before the share option can be exercised.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors in their absolute discretion at the time of the making of
the offer which shall be stated in the letter containing the offer,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the offer date which must be a trading day; (ii)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or

to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share option (2012: Nil) was granted to the
directors and other employees of the Company or employees of
any of the Company’s subsidiaries and any entities in which the
Group holds any equity interests.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
options outstanding under the Terminated Scheme and/or the
Scheme (2012: Nil).

29. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 44 of

the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign
Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the
Group’s associates operating as Foreign Investment
Enterprises in Mainland China has been transferred to the
share of other reserves of associates. As at 31 March 2013,
the share of other reserves of associates of HK$2,137,000
(2012: HK$1,929,000) is non-distributable in nature and can
be utilised to offset the losses incurred.
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(a) M
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TSRS B A4 E 2 B MR S ) P 2
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29. RESERVES (continued) 29. fifi flii (78)
(b) Company (b) A
Share Capital
premium redemption Retained

account reserve profits Total
2 A i Il

JBe i i Ve s RN it

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000

it T #WTr  #WTr ENTT

At 1 April 2011 —2——FNH—H 90,557 579 55,630 146,766
Total comprehensive income RAR L 48 2 T W £
for the year - - 133 133
Interim 2012 dividend ZR-TEPHRE 12 - - (2,596) (2,596)
Proposed final 2012 dividend R -THEEEREIRE 12 = = (2,596) (2,596)
At 31 March 2012 RE-F-ZHE=A=+—H
and 1 April 2012 K_F—"4FNH—H 90,557 579 50,571 141,707
Total comprehensive income A JEE 4 2 T W 2
for the year - - 1 1
At 31 March 2013 R-F-ZH£ZA=+—H 90,557 579 50,572 141,708
30.NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 30. %3 45 Bl 4 U R Wk
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Major non-cash transaction FHEFBRERY
During the current year, the Group recognised the estimated AR > AREE T E - B BEKE
obligations, included in the Group’s property, plant and HERAERBEEMZH TWE - ME KXk
equipment, of HK$706,000 to dismantle, remove, restore certain H5IE H W2 A 51 3 4£706,0008 00 > W EEFAA
items of property, plant and equipment in respect of the office BEH Yk~ Bm R o

premises and retail stores under operating leases.

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 31. B L4
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not R IR o PR A A 5 i P AR A 2 Bk
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: KA :
Company
A
2013 2012
- St 2 E-IAg
HK$°000 HKS$’000
BT BT T
Guarantees given to banks in i SR AT % OR B B A )
connection with facilities granted Z IR
to subsidiaries 401,400 431,400
As at 31 March 2013, the banking facilities granted to the R_F—Z£EZH=Z1—H » KA A [ RTHE
subsidiaries subject to guarantees given to the banks by REBARZRITER > HEHHZ SRR
the Company were utilised to the extent of approximately 183,786,000 JC (& — 4 : 255,292,000%
HK$183,786,000 (2012: HK$255,292,000). Jo) °
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32. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a) As lessor

The Group and the Company leases certain of its land and
buildings under operating lease arrangements. Leases are

negotiated for terms of termination by one month’s written

notice.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the

Company had total future minimum lease receivables under

non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

32. B ALK
@ BRI

AEE B AN R EMEREHES T
o P A o REWETG Z FLAY T DL — M8 H F
[[TRGRs nig V83l

TR IR > ARG T B A 2 W AR B R 2R A
AT 8 < AR AR A TR T 51 30 PR M S
AL & BT

Group Company
£ 3| A
2013 2012 2013 2012
e Sy R T e St O —E T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT BT T
Within one year —4EN 25 25 - -
(b) As lessee (b) fe#HA
The Group and the Company leases certain land and AEERAA R EMERHHMEST
buildings under operating lease arrangements. Leases are T R AT o REBER ZHMAER B —F &
negotiated for terms of one year to eleven years. +—4
At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the TR R o A [ B AR 2 AR B R SRR
Company had total future minimum lease payments under AT B < AR LA T B 3 R A a5
non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows: KA &AW T :
Group Company
£ 3| A
2013 2012 2013 2012
e S —E T R A —EFE T
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT T T T X
Within one year —4EN 5,357 180 - -
In the second to fifth years 58 “4E EHHFEN 22,648 = - =
After five years AR 19,827 = - =
47,832 180 - -
The operating lease rentals of certain retail shops are based HTEREEMLEMEMNE ISR 4 A5
on the contingent rent calculated on the sales of the retail B o SRR FE < F DA PR AEL 55 T 3 P s Ak K %
shops pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in the P 4% % 5 2 5 Tl 2 8 B A R wh SR o R
respective rental agreements. As the future sales of these W Rl R 2 B B A T S A FE o W
retail shops could not be estimated reliably, the relevant AR ERAFIALRE > MESRKHAE
contingent rent has not been included above and only the LB RS A B -
minimum lease commitment has been included in the above
table.
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33. COMMITMENTS 33. 7Rk ¥
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note B b SCRfFE32(0) B 2t 4888 Rl B AR DA K% %
32(b) above and elsewhere in these financial statements, the 5k o8 A by BT R A A o AS AR TR R 4
Group had the following commitments at the end of the reporting KA T HIAYE
period:
Group
M
2013 2012
TR AR R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Contracted, but not provided for: Ol A H R HE 4 -

Leasehold improvements HEMHEEE 805 -
At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no WK > RA R HERRE (2
significant commitment (2012: Nil). A JE) o

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4. BN LR 5
(a) The Group had the following material transactions with its (a) AP > ACHE B B A\ LTS F AR
related parties during the year: RH
2013 2012
TR ZAR SR
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Mt BT BT
Rental income received from Ir [ 7 2 ) WA R 4
related companies LN (1) 192 192
Rental income received from IF T 8 2 ) OB 4
associates KA (i) 332 332
Commission received from an Ir /2 > ) WAL 4
associate (ii) - 320
Sales of goods to associates I B 2 A ] B R (iii) 119 526
Purchases of goods from 1e) BB 8 2 ) R W A
associates (iv) 3,113 -
Transportation fees paid to Ii W 4 A W) 32 A
an associate 7 3 2 (v) - 94
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

114

(continued)
(a) (continued)
Notes:

(b)

(c)

(i) Tenancy agreements were entered into with related parties
and associates on mutually agreed terms. The leases can be
extended and renewed until terminated by either party.

(ii) In the prior year, the commission received was charged

on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary course of

business.

(iii) The sales of goods to associates were made by reference

to prices and conditions similar to those offered to other

customers.

(iv) The purchases from the associates were determined by
reference to prices and conditions similar to those offered by
the associates to their major customers.

(v) In the prior year, the transportation fees charged by an

associate were determined by reference to the costs incurred
by the associate.

The above related party transactions referred to in note (iv)
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

34. BN LR 5 (4

() AR e 77 o B A R R O 4 R A
S Z AR AT L o FA AT IS R A - H
BT —T7 T UKL -

e EAERE > P BT H R B IR
I v SRk O

(i)

(iii) 1 W ) B R L TG 2% 1 Al

Mt 2 50 B A% B A A T S

(v) T TG O R AR N T 2 25 T 4 4 ) 1 e R B
% PB4 Z BUDL AR B K i A o

(v) W LARBE > T A R i O 2 S i ¥ F TS

275 i O T 2 A 2 AT A AE o

b SCB REG) B At 2z B N 32 A
BB 5y (3% ET RS 1A TR T 2
EH) o

Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) BRPRAMEANLZMARBERL R -
Details of the balances with associates at the end of the R HIR - B AR Z AR o
reporting period are included in note 16 to the financial A i R 16 o
statements.
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (c) ARLHEFEFEEMAEZHM :
2013 2012
Y- St O —EFE T
HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT BT T
Short term employee benefits %6 391 0 B 18 A 6,233 6,712
Pension scheme contributions X o P 282 306
Total compensation paid to key T W EEFH A B ¥
management personnel Z T 4 6,515 7,018

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note

8 to the financial statements.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3[.EMILRZAH
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial AR £ 4 T REZERMENT

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2013 Group
e Sy S e
Financial assets
S A
Fair value through
profit or loss — Loans and
Held for trading receivables Total
Rl R — 4% AP ek K
2% 0 4 % A iR JE Bk A5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT T
Trade receivables JRE W B 5 R Ak - 22,377 22,377
Financial assets included in B R AT RIE > W&
prepayments, deposits and T Al JE W Rk 2
other receivables (note 20) S E (FiE20) - 5,590 5,590
Financial assets at fair value & P AE 75 3 15 25 A IR
through profit or loss Z 4B B 178 - 178
Cash and cash equivalents B4 MBI E&%MIEH = 65,884 65,884
178 93,851 94,029
2013 Group
=4 3|
Financial liabilities
4 i 14
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
35 8 95 B AR A HI vy 4 v £ %
HK$’000
BT
Due to an associate JRE A B 8 28 ] 181
Trade and bills payables JE A B 5 R AR B S % 28,904
Financial liabilities included in A 955 77 L At B A B Ak B
other payables and accruals JE St £ 2 4 AL AR
(note 24) (Hfik24) 9,541
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR B Z AT B 183,786
222,412
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2012
TR TAR
Financial assets

4 i ¥
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35. i TH2Z 5 ()

Fair value through

Group
£ 3]

profit or loss — Loans and
Held for trading receivables Total
FrfEHE — %A FE Bk Kk
7 4R AR JRE WLk At
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
X BT T BT T
Due from associates JRE Wk 2 2 ] = 154 154
Trade receivables JE Wi B2 5 e ik - 52,603 52,603
Financial assets included in AR AT RIE ~ 54
prepayments, deposits and T At HE WO 3k 2
other receivables (note 20) &l B (M RE20) - 1,109 1,109
Financial assets at fair value AP B 48 AR
through profit or loss Z A RA B 15,118 = 15,118
Cash and cash equivalents B&AkBA&SEEH = 63,960 63,960
15,118 117,826 132,944
2012 Group
—R— 4R EL |
Financial liabilities
£ NER
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
22 4 89 B AR SR 1 <6 £
HK$’000
BT T
Trade and bills payables AT B 5 IR % 5 26,873
Financial liabilities included AL 355 7 Al JRE ) B 3K B
in other payables and accruals JE 5 £ 6 = 4l £ £
(note 24) (Kt it24) 9,701
Interest-bearing bank borrowings R R B Z SRAT B 255,292
291,866
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 35. 8T H 28 (8)
CATEGORY (continued)

Financial assets

4 k0
Company
B
2013 2012
e St e St ot
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
£k K Fak &
JE Bk JRE Wk
HK$’000 HK$’000
YT BT T
Due from subsidiaries JFE WA it T 4 468 445
Financial assets included in BB EARIE -~ T8 Rk
prepayments, deposits and L Al JRE R R = 4 i O
other receivables (note 20) (K #E20) 3 6
Cash and bank balances Bl BT &5 17 3,155 255
3,626 706

Financial liabilities

Eod NNl
Company
i
2013 2012
Y- St O e St ot
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
U AR A MR B AR AR
1Y 4B il £1 4% Fh < Al £ A
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Due to subsidiaries JE A5 Bt J8§ A ) 31,108 21,560
Financial liabilities included in 35 A A MR sk K
other payables and accruals JE T B0 2 4 b B A
(note 24) (Kt it24) 3,450 -
34,558 21,560
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HIERARCHY

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the

Company’s financial instruments are as follows:

Group

Notes to Financial Statements Bf #& $§ 4 Kf =

31 March 2013 —2—=5=A=+—8

36. 23 V{H B 2 1 2R

A4 ) % A 2 ) 4l T HL 2 SRR B A PR A

T

E L

Carrying amounts

Fair values

R i fF AV
2013 2012 2013 2012
TR =4 R TR =4 R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT o o BT T W oo
Financial assets 4 %
Cash and cash equivalents BERBE&FMEEA 65,884 63,960 65,884 63,960
Financial assets at fair value AT EBE MR
through profit or loss AR Z & @& & 178 15,118 178 15,118
Financial assets included in A5 7 FE A KA
prepayments, deposits and HESE RN 35
other receivables WR Ak 2 4 il & 5,590 1,109 5,590 1,109
Trade receivables JRE W B 5 MR 22,377 52,603 22,377 52,603
Due from associates JFE W W 428 A ] - 154 - 154
94,029 132,944 94,029 132,944
Carrying amounts Fair values
IR i 4 AV
2013 2012 2013 2012
—R—=4E BT —R =4 Bt St
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$°000
BT BT BT 7B W o
Financial liabilities 4B
Due to an associate JRE A gk 43 A ) 181 = 181 =
Trade and bills payables WEAT B 5 MRk B 5 28,904 26,873 28,904 26,873
Financial liabilities included in 5 %5 5% 2 At JE 1 B 5k
other payables and accruals MR AfZ
AR 9,541 9,701 9,541 9,701
Interest-bearing bank HBTFEZ
borrowings AT R 183,786 255,292 183,786 255,292
222,412 291,866 222,412 291,866
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 36. 2 V-8 B A VA 20K (7])
HIERARCHY (continued)
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the A 45 [H] Fe AN ) 4 i T L 2 R T AE B A - E N
Company’s financial instruments are as follows: (continued) T (&)
Company |
Carrying amounts Fair values
JUETTR AV
2013 2012 2013 2012
R =4 R TR =4 R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
W T o T or 0T o T
Financial assets LW E
Due from subsidiaries JRE W Bt B 2 ) 468 445 468 445
Financial assets included in AL $5 S T A 30H
prepayments, deposits and w4 B G b W R
other receivables TR Z A R B 3 6 3 6
Cash and bank balances B4 B SR AT B 47 3,155 255 3,155 255
3,626 706 3,626 706
Carrying amounts Fair values
YR i K A FE
2013 2012 2013 2012
TR =4 R TR —-=4E R T
HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT o o BT o BT T
Financial liabilities 4 b 11 4%
Due to subsidiaries R A It JBg 2 ] 31,108 21,560 31,108 21,560
Financial liabilities included in 5% i 3 fth JE £ B 5%
other payables and accruals KHEFT R
SR AR 3,450 = 3,450 =
34,558 21,560 34,558 21,560
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HIERARCHY (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings, trade and bills
payables, amounts due from/to associates and amounts due from/
to subsidiaries approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted

market prices.

Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and

disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are observable, either directly or

indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are not based on observable market

data (unobservable inputs)
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36. 23 V4H B A 1% (51)

A S BRI A P E DL TR BB R 5 O
(5 78 5 M HH B R Ah) BT 2 5 T YT 22 5 6
WM o T 5175 8 B AR B TS DAk GH A SFAH -

B % 55 TR A B > Bl KB %%
EIEE ~ BEWCR 5 Mok ~ B4 7 AT K ~ 5T
4 T A B WO MR 7k = 4 b B - A Y LAt R
FHiR RN AT AR SR AU - AR
ST R - MEAT B 50 MRk R SRR - ME WA IR
B E R I KRB I A ] 2RI 2 A F
Al 5O v A K B A

TR i B R B T R

BT

AR 1B D), B SR 1 R T B R A ik T H 2 P
14 :

B+ AR RN ) R B AR T
B OR K830 8 ) i st 42 43 P

S R A H EIIR A A mEE R
i 2 D 22 T B4 Y OB i A B A
{875 ¥ 1wt B PR

95 R+ 3 3B T B4 1 I 5 S (3 T L
SEYER M A ) T B 90 4 F iF
T 5 8 2 WA 0 A £ 9 7
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 36. 2 Vi Be A V- 28k (51)
HIERARCHY (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AR (5)
Assets measured at fair value as at 31 March 2013: R CE—ZFEZH =1+ —HBAAFHEGFTEZE
FE ¢
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B B g = Mk

HK$’000  HK$°000  HK$’000  HK$’000
wY T #BWETIT BW¥FTT #BW¥TI

Equity investments at fair value WA VBB R
through profit or loss ARZ R E 178 - - 178
Assets measured at fair value as at 31 March 2012: R CE—TEZH = —H#BAAFHEFTEZE
GE ¢
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
g oy BEE 5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T WL BETT #B¥TI
Equity investments at fair value N R K =
through profit or loss ARZ BB E 15,118 = = 15,118
During the year, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair AR BE N > 58 = 0 I OA B 1 Bl
value measurements (2012: Nil). (ZF— 4 ) -
The Company did not have any financial assets measured at fair MNE-F—=F£=H=1+—H » KA BEHE
value as at 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil). A FPHEFgEREZESMERE (ZE— 4
fE) o
The Group and the Company did not have any financial liabilities RoFZ-ZE=ZA=Z+—H » REERAKATF
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil). WA EMAAFEFTREZEMASE (CZF
— AR ) o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank borrowings, and cash and short term deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade and bills

payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below:

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and short term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group’s funding policy uses short term interest-bearing debts
to finance its working capital requirements. The Group borrows
mainly at floating interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in Hong Kong dollar and RMB interest rate, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax
(through the impact on cash and cash equivalents and floating
rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity. There is no impact on
the Company’s equity.
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RSN
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

37. Y 5 e g 4% BEL H B B BOR ()

(continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) F % B ()
Group
#EM
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
L um i BE 1 M 48 B 25
Bim/ (W¥4) WA (Bm) Bim, (W4)
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
2013 g St o
Hong Kong dollar W 50 (634) -
Renminbi ANR¥E 50 44 =
Hong Kong dollar W (50) 634 -
Renminbi NG (50) (44) -
2012 e Sy o
Hong Kong dollar oo 50 (957) -
Hong Kong dollar woo (50) 957 -

& Excluding retained profits

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or expenses of operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. The Group’s monetary
assets, financing and transactions were principally denominated
in Hong Kong dollar and RMB. The Group is exposed to the
foreign exchange risk arising from changes in the exchange rate
of the Hong Kong dollar against RMB. At present, the Group
does not intend to seek to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations. However, the Group will constantly review the
economic situation and its foreign exchange risk profile, and
will consider appropriate hedging measures in future as may be

necessary.

o R EERR B A

A B o, B

A S [ i 2 22 B M B o % S R B TS TR 2
AL BLAL DA % B0 2 o BE £ W DAAh 2 B WORE AT
HE s AR o AR A - R R
B8 Gy BFEA U Te N R e AH o A 4 [ v 484 9 e
SN R E < 4 ) 2 AR Ja\ B o H R > AC4E
B89 P i 2 2 A7 O 9 B8 = oR o AR > AR
A5 T 4 A0 A o 468 TR 58 % L A1 L 1R L >
T IR B B A
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OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group has no significant
foreign currency risk because its business is principally
conducted in Hong Kong and most of the transactions are
denominated in the Group’s functional currency. Since the Hong
Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of the bank balances
and trade and bills payables denominated in United States dollars

is considered to be minimal.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
RMB exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s loss before tax (due to changes in the fair value of

monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity.

Notes to Financial Statements Bf #& $§ 4 Kf =

31 March 2013 —2—=5=A=+—8

37. Y 5 e g 4% BEL H B B BOR ()

A WE B8 (%1)

RBREZF-HE=ZA=ZT—HIREE > hR
AR 2 3 LR WIET RSB H TS
VIS ) 2 o R B W 1 > BRIt o A 2 A S S
K A B JE B o P P W0 B SR OT e o PRI
A AT [ DA SR O S8 R 2 SRAT & B A B 5
MR 7k I 55 4 2 A1 M D I A 2 A

TARBUR B AR MR A G B AR E) - 1E
oAb 52 W DR 5 ARG DL o AR I i
SR B B B A (BRI B E R R A
PR S ) ) T A4 [ B 2 2 SBURR B 4 AT

Group
£ |
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
B B BE il M B i+
Bm, () WA () Bm, (W)
HK$’000 HK$’000
BHT T BT T
2013 R =K
If Hong Kong dollar weakens #5050\ R 59 34
against RMB (50) (807) -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens Fus ot e A\ R 5
against RMB 50 807 -

R Excluding retained profits
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. Y 5 e g 4% BEL H B B BOR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk £vi £ ML B&
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy REEBEEEADFEENEZEFENLR
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to 5 o B E Z PR > B BRIRfE ST
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. REGWMER > WAEABBREEZERF - 1L
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing Ab > AR 4 [ R 4 B R MR A R 2 T L o T AR 4R
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. ] 332 H% J, ot i A K o
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which S A ) 4 65 B 4 e B A ST H R WO
comprise cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from T FKIE ~ oA R KB R A FE B M A
associates, other receivables and financial assets at fair value WRZ &l a2 HAh B B G & 2 15 8 ) B IR
through profit or loss, arises from default of the counterparty, H¥ 7 EA > FR R A SR %5 TR R
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these o AN T R % H 4 il 9 1 i R A2 45 B LB
instruments. The Company is also exposed to credit risk through HE— 25 T T T 5 T B k3 1 b 4 o

the granting of financial guarantees, further details of which are
disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy FH 7 A 45 B {8 SRR 52 W) S A B AT SR M % P AT
customers, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations 5y o AT EATLM KA o | AR5 & E gL
of credit risk are managed by analysis by customer/counterparty. TSI B R /A 5 TR ATE B A #r - B
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the AR 4 ) 2 B 5 E R Bk 2 % P SR o A
Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are 2 o WA 4 | P I 0 B OKAE E AE  RELB o

widely dispersed.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to AR A T R W B 5 MR R A I WGk T =2 A
credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are disclosed B0 L I = 7 A S0 0 ) 8 R B 5 R B R 19
in notes 19 and 20, respectively, to the financial statements. 220 °

Liquidity risk it ) % 4 e, B

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a A 55 8 0 PR T AR M ) I et A B
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity LR - W TR FEHSM T AR
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade Sl R (YR 5 RaK) MBI H &Rk B &
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. o SR W TE ] B e i i o

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between A £ [ Y R AR R 7 A0 ) JE B R B 2 BRAT
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of interest- BEAK o DR FF B 4 5 Atk B T 1 P A o

bearing bank borrowings.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

37. Y 5 e g 4% BEL H B B BOR ()

U h e 4 B ()

98 CLRT H0 R B B > DLF S5 A 4R ] Je AR
AFTRBEMARZ M EAEBIMA ¢

Group £ M
Within 1 year
—4EW
2013 2012
e St e St
HK$°000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Due to an associate JRE A T 7 2 W] 181 -
Trade and bills payables WA B 5 IRk B 5 28,904 26,873
Other payables JEAth JE A HR 3R 9,541 9,701
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR B Z AT B 184,722 256,399
223,348 292,973
Company |
On demand or
within 1 year
B — 4 W
2013 2012
e St o TR T
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Due to subsidiaries JRE A B} i 2 W) 31,108 21,560
Financial liabilities included in A 475 77 3 fth E A5 Rk %
other payables and accruals JE ST AR 2 4 b R 3,450 -
Guarantees given to banks in T FAY JBE A ) 4 4% 5 R
connection with facilities i SR AT AR 2 ¥ AR
granted to subsidiaries 183,786 255,292
218,344 276,852
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the values of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (note 21) as at 31 March 2013. The Group’s listed
investments are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and are

valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 3%
change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all other
variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on

their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

37. Y 5 e g 4% BEL H B B BOR ()

JBe 53¢ R R Bt

e 5% A v R e i PR Je R 4 K T Al il 2%
2 B 6 5 B8 T B8OHE 2 58 2 O T L MR IR 2 JE i o
REF-ZEEZH = REERZEE
B B A A 0 BB AR B 2 o P B i AR 2 A
MR F) < 7 (M2 1) T 5| BBOBCHE fET R B
ACER I 2 BT A A W A B bl i LA
i 2 T o IR Z -

T A B Y LA 8 M AR R R A S LR S B
ST o BB O WK Z IR A > BHhE

i 3 FE 3% 5 B 2 BUSHE -

Group HH
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
fair value before tax in equity*
2 A B Be ni i 22
Bom,~ | Y T Bm,~
(WD) (3% )m) (W)
% HK$’000 HK$°000
BHF T T
2013 R4
Investments listed in Hong Kong BB LETHRE
— Held for trading —FEEE 3 5 -
3) 5) -
2012 R
Investments listed in Hong Kong B EHRE
— Held for trading —FEHE 3 454 =
3) (454) =
& Excluding retained profits & A A 555 AR B i )
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

38

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business

and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March
2013 and 31 March 2012.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end
of the reporting periods were as follows:

37. Y 5 e g 4% BEL H B B BOR ()

¥R

ACHR [ B ACAE B R R Tl DR AC SR A
3 AR A RS S5 e ) L I A B R A
Pl 3R DL S 7 LS 3 B RAL R OR B L -

A 55 AR 0 A R A 2 AL B A B A A
SF i DA B o R M R G B A > AR
A A B R IR, T B AR A e R AT
W RBREZF-ZF=ZH=HHESR
—ZHEZA=EFHIMEERN s EAEHZH

AR E M AREA R DB G A > HS R
A ) I 2 BT B K o DA AR 2 ) B 25 T A
B A B 2 T 5 B % o £ £ A B % ol e A
JE IR o REEHIAR » AREARKRNT

Group
eS|

2013 2012

TR AR e St

HK$°000 HKS$’000

W T T

Interest-bearing bank borrowings R R B Z SRAT K 183,786 255,292
Equity attributable to equity holders & B A A< 2 5] R 25 Fr B &%

of the Company F) HE 2 405,216 424,719

Gearing ratio HEEARLE 45% 60%

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 27 June 2013.
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